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- 195 690 98 - 983
- 112 338 80 - 530
4 - - - - - -
1,190 1,905 4,117 938 - 8,150
(©) 2021 12 27
@ 2021 19
®
@ 2021 12 17 2022 22
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381 343 369
364 2020
®)
2021
w. vy
86
244
2020 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified
Public Accountants LLP 2020 2021
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP 2020 2021
2021 12 31
( ( )
57
(1,114.92)
( ) 7
(136.92)
64
(1,251.84)
2020 12 31

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
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68.34 1.21
(1,336.73) (23.67)

8.49 1.92
(166.06) (37.56)

76.83 3.13
(1,502.79) (61.22)

2021 12 31
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2022 14
38 59
131

19.56
2022 28

23 103

23 25 193
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(€))
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
4 415,981 81,366 418,605 81,879
5 51,456 10,065 48,425 9,472
6 61,186 11,968 59,457 11,630
7 29,919 5,852 29,920 5,852
8 19,753 3,864 18,508 3,620
10 41,166 8,052 40,303 7,883
248 49 73 14
11 1,216 238 1,073 210
12 6,688 1,308 8,164 1,597
13 7,261 1,420 6,552 1,282
634,874 124,181 631,080 123,439
15 3,827 749 3,317 649
437 85 334 65
16 22,389 4,379 21,502 4,206
17 912 178 604 118
18 24,585 4,809 25,167 4,923
1,929 377 9,408 1,840
19 73,281 14,334 23,684 4,633
127,360 24,912 84,016 16,434
762,234 149,093 715,096 139,873
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31

20 2,821 552 27,994 5,476
20 6,280 1,228 1,126 220
21 114,895 22,473 107,578 21,042
22 55,765 10,908 57,053 11,160
23 70,914 13,871 63,849 12,489
588 115 350 68
24 13,809 2,701 13,192 2,580
265,072 51,848 271,142 53,035
(137,712) (26,936) (187,126) (36,602)
497,162 97,245 443,954 86,837
20 7,395 1,446 24,222 4,738
24 28,593 5,593 27,455 5,370
12 26,677 5,218 24,208 4,735
3,329 651 1,894 370
65,994 12,908 77,779 15,214
331,066 64,757 348,921 68,249
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
25 91,507 17,899 80,932 15,830
26 337,167 65,950 282,524 55,262
428,674 83,849 363,456 71,092
2,494 488 2,719 532
431,168 84,336 366,175 71,624
762,234 149,093 715,096 139,873

2022 3 17

194 286
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12 31
2021 2020

27 439,552 85,976 393,561 76,981
(92,965) (18,184) (90,240) (17,651)

28 (133,342) (26,082) (119,517) (23,378)
(61,155) (11,962) (55,059) (10,770)

29 (76,055) (14,876) (65,989) (12,907)
30 (45,088) (8.819) (29,074) (5.687)
4 - - (5,042) (986)
31 (408, 605) (79,923) (364,921) (71,379)
30,947 6,053 28,640 5,602

32 (1,293) (253) (3,014) (590)
2,244 439 60 12

1,966 385 1,701 333

33,864 6,624 27,387 5,357

33 (7,716) (1,509) (6,307) (1,234)
26,148 5,115 21,080 4,123
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2021 2020
20 4 (385) (75)
1s) ®3) 97 19
5 1 (288) (56)
(233) (46) (312) (61)
- - Q) @
(233) (46) (316) (62)
(228) (45) (604) (118)
25,920 5,070 20,476 4,005
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12 31
2021 2020
25,948 5,075 20,850 4,078
200 39 230 45
26,148 5,115 21,080 4,123
25,720 5,031 20,244 3,960
200 39 232 45
25,920 5,070 20,476 4,005
( / ) 38 0.31 6.06 0.26 5.09
( / ) 38 0.31 6.06 0.26 5.09

( ) 25 91,507 80,932

194 286
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2020
37
26
26

2020 12 31

A 25
1
37
26
26

2021 12 31

80,932

17,504

10,746

78,043

10,746

17,889

47,687

ooooodo

165,272 352,510 2,530 355,040
20,850 20,850 230 21,080

- (606) 2 (604)
20,850 20,244 232 20,476

- - @ @

- - (42) (42)

- (36) - (36)

(9,262) (9,262) (9,262)
(1,811) - -
(33) - -
175,016 363,456 366,175
25,948 25,948 26,148

- (228) (228)
25,948 25,720 25,920
- 47,516 - 47,516
- 463 613 1,076

- - (116) (116)

31 - (922) (922)

- (42) (42)

(8,439) (8,439) (8,439)
(2,423) - -
(44) - -
190,089 428,674 431,168
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2020
37
26
26

2020 12 31

A 25
1
37
26
26

2021 12 31

194 286

oooooog

32,327 68,951 495 69,446
4,078 4,078 45 4,123

- (119) 0 (118)
4,078 3,960 45 4,005

- - () ()

- - ®) ®)

- )] - @)

(1,812) 1,812) - (1,812)
(354) - - -
O} - - -
34,233 71,092 532 71,624
5,075 5,075 39 5,115

- (45) - (45)
5,075 5,031 39 5,070
- 9,294 - 9,294
- 91 120 210

- 23) 23)

- (180) (180)

- ®) - (€))

(1,651) (1,651) - (1,651)
474) - - -
© - - -
37,181 83,849 488 84,336




EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

OooooOodd
©)
12 31

2021 2020
©) 137,533 26,901 132,260 25,870
(84,847)  (16,596) (88,748)  (17,359)
(206) (40) (74) (14)
(327) (64) (220) (43)
1,637 320 863 169
82 16 24 5
52 10 47 9
3,764 736 - -
(211) (41) - -
9,251)  (1,809) (4,664) 912)
11,020 2,156 5,695 1,114
(b) (2,000) (391) - -
(80,287)  (15,704) (87,077)  (17,032)
A 47,516 9,294 - -
(14,035)  (2,745) (12,738) (2,492)
38,922 7,613 81,049 15,853
(74,486)  (14,569)  (106,982)  (20,926)
(8,439)  (1,651) (9,262) (1,812)
(112) (22) 42) ®
- - @ ©
99 19 - -
- - 978 191
() 3,190 624 5,728 1,120
(®) @7 (35) (837) (164)

(7.522)  (1.471) (42,107) (8,236)

49,724 9,726 3,076 602
23,684 4,633 20,791 4,067

@27) (25) (183) (36)

12 31 73,281 14,334 23,684 4,633
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12 31

2021 2020
33,864 6,624 27,387 5,357
92,965 18,184 90,240 17,651
_ - 5,042 986
1,985 388 1,512 296
69 13 35 7
(2,244) (439) (60) (12)
(1,966) (385) (1,701) (333)
(1,104) (216) (582) (114)
2,404 470 3,433 671
) (€)) 163 32
5,929 1,160 3,827 749
131,895 25,799 129,296 25,290
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12 31
2021 2020

131,895 25,799 129,296 25,290
(3,327) (651) @,771) (346)
(318) (62) (132) (26)
(595) (116) 474) (93)
(2,031) (397) (116) (23)
(85) an (6,097) (1,193)
(2,047) (400) (2,971) (581)
4,227 827 5,689 1,113
7,009 1,371 1,879 368
7,140 1,397 9,516 1,861
141,868 27,749 134,819 26,371
1,045 204 594 116
(2,522) (493) (3.524) (689)
860 168 603 118
(3,718) @27) (232) (45)
137,533 26,901 132,260 25,870

2019

2020 12 31

286
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2021 12 31
2002 10
2021
3,897 4,695
2021 Guang Hua Properties
Limited
75 25 131 158 44
53 Guang Hua Properties Limited
2021
2,218
2021 A 10,396,135,267
2021 178,635,111 A
91,507,138,699 13,877,410,000 H 2021 20
67,054,958,321 A
IFRS
1ASB IFRS
IFRS IAS 39 IFRS IFRS IFRS 16
IFRS 16 2021 30 Covid-19

IFRS
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1ASB IFRS
2021 12 31 137,712 (2020 12 31 187,126
) 1
2) 276,483 (2020 12 31 244,326
)
2021 12 31
(9]
IFRS
IFRS
a7
@
@ ®
©
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G
Gi FVTOCH
IFRS
(iii  FVTPL
FVTOCH FVTOCI
FVTPL

FVTPL

IFRS
IFRS
ECL ECL
ECL
ECL 12 ECL ECL 12
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ECL ECL
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Covid-19

2020 Covid-19

2021 30
2022 30
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IFRS 16

IFRS 15
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(s

2021 12 31
© 2,392

46

122
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2021 12
3,379 2020 : 2,215
3,432
2020 : 130

45
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(t VAT
2019
2019
VAT
VAT VAT
(u
IAS 12
v

(w

13
VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT
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€))

Q)

(i)

i)

(b)

(i) (

(i)

@iv)

) @

v @C ) (
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2020

2020

2021

2020

2020

2021

2021 12 31

2020 12 31

12 31

12 31

12 31

12 31
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OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

Ooooooog

10

10
104,365 865,717 31,635 1,001,717
425 139 253 817
2,249 84,567 1,791 88,607
(1,435) (53,500) (3,039) (57,974)
(10) (512) 522 -
105,594 896,411 31,162 1,033,167
284 175 325 784
2,466 72,260 1,625 76,351
(1,146) (74,532) (2,960) (78,638)
107,198 894,314 30,152 1,031,664
(61,785) (506,357) (23,567) (591,709)
(4,196) (64,208) (2,038) (70,442)
- (5,027) (15) (5,042)
1,324 48,451 2,856 52,631
8 401 (409) -
(64,649) (526,740) (23,173)  (614,562)
(3,997) (65,113) (2.,396) (71,506)
- (119) @ (121)
1,022 66,735 2,749 70,506
(67,624) (525,237) (22,822)  (615,683)
39,574 369,077 7,330 415,981
40,945 369,671 7,989 418,605
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2020 12 31
2020 12 31
2020 12 31
5,042 2021 12 31
2020 59,206
84,145
(88,607)
(6,319)
2020 12 31 48,425
85,582
(76,351)
(6,200)
2021 12 31 51,456
2021 12 31
20,207 16,677 13,034 10,927 341 61,186
2020 12 31
20,441 8,672 18,866 11,230 248 59,457
2021 12 31
762 3,644 8,078 2,513 99 15,096
2020 12 31
745 3,626 7,642 2,151 78 14,242
2021 2020 12 31
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2021 12 31 1,006 2020 1,077
34 2020 46
5,151 2020 5,151
2021 12 31 21,952 2020 20,798
18,081 2020 13,561
12 31

2021 2020

29,919 29,920
2008 10

( )
100 99.5
43,800 2010 12 31
3,471
2009

3.7 4.6 2020 : 3.6 4.3
9.8 2020 : 9.6
1.5 2020 :1.5
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2020

2021

2020

2020

2021

2021
2020

12

12

12

12

12
12

31

31

31

31

31
31
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43,794
1,489
6,319

(748)

50,854

2,038
6,200
(3.352)

55,740

(27,445)
(5.556)
655

(32,346)

(6,363)
2,722

(35,987)

19,753
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/
(

2001 9 13 542
2000 2 25 168
2007 8 15 350
2004 10 15 60
2005 7 1 500
2006 10 5 1,000,001
1984 5 5 91
2011 1 10 1
2012 5 16 500
2012 6 26 3,723,500
2012 7 9 10,500
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/
(
iMusIC 2013 6 9 250
2006 3 2 16.15
2013 8 19 11
2017 11 30 5,000
2019 1 8 5,000
2021 7 1 4,000
2021 7 6 900
51 65 70
12 31
2021 2020
36,983 37,168
4,183 3,135
41,166 40,303
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20.5%
)
24.0%
)
(h
2018
(i)

12 31

2021 2020
48,344 43,204
274,915 294,176
76,182 106,635
57,723 44,499

2021 2020
86,585 81,099
7,328 6,427
@ -
7,327 6,427
807 525
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12 31
2021 2020
189,354 186,246
- €))
20.5% 20.5%
38,818 38,180
(568) (717)
38,250 37,463
25,374 34,625
12 31
2021 2020
6,783 4,752
4,272 5,878
1,712 2,124
1,814 1,803
2021 2020
1,470 982
663 641
- an
663 624
18 14
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12 31

2021 2020
7,529 6,703
(258) (83)
24.0% 24.0%
1,745 1,589
1,745 1,589

2021 2020
122 86
122 86

12 31

2021 2020

1,171 1,251
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12 31
2021 2020
O) 942 838
(i) 274 235
1,216 1,073
O)
FVTOCI
(i)
FVTOCI
12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
2021 2020 2021 2020
1,416 930 - -
5,905 5,679 (30,202) (25,209)
1,140 1,039 - _
1,058 863 - -
845 791 - -
- - (151) 137)
/( 10,364 9,302 (30,353) (25,346)
2021 12 31 3,676 2020 12 31 1,138
2021 12 31 6,688
2020 12 31 8,164 26,677 2020 12 31 24,208
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2021 2021 12 31
930 487 @ 1,416
5,679 255 (29) 5,905
1,039 121 (20) 1,140
863 195 - 1,058
791 54 - 845
9,302 1,112 (50) 10,364
(25,209) (5,007) 14 (30,202)
(137) (15) 1 (151)
(25,346) (5,022) 15 (30,353)
2020 2020 12
31

802 128 930

4,256 1,423 5,679

1,067 (28) 1,039

708 155 863

744 47 791

7,577 1,725 9,302

(18,844) (6.365) (25,209)

(234) 97 137)

(19,078) (6,268) (25,346)
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2021 12 31

2020 12 31
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(i) 1,436 1,151
- 16
5,825 5,385
7,261 6,552
1,584 2020 : 1,234
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12 31
2021 2020
410 484
3,417 2,833
3,827 3,317
12 31
2021 2020
25,067 23,688
(i) 1,889 1,784
9 23
475 441
27,440 25,936
(5,051) (4,434)
22,389 21,502
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12
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12
2021 2020 12 31
1,790
2021 2020 12 31
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27,339 25,836

12 31
2021 2020
7,164 7,068
1,683 1,601
1,620 1,481
1,079 921
11,546 11,071
(2,690) (2,438)
8,856 8,633
12 31
2021 2020
6,041 5,331
2,963 2,785
3,486 3,801
3,404 2,948
15,894 14,865
(2,361) (1,996)
13,533 12,869
1,694
40
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12 31

2021 2020
792 564
139 49
931 613
(19) ®
912 604

12 31

2021 2020
i) 2,756 1,189
63 138
207 204
4,404 6,569
(508) (508)
4,843 6,080
3,184 2,994
9,636 8,501
24,585 25,167

2,000

3.43
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2021 12 31
2021 12 31
4.4
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12 31
2021 2020
71,757 23,193
1,524 491
73,281 23,684
12 31
2021 2020
2,821 4,831
- 11,999
- 11,164
2,821 27,994
3.7 2020 12 31 2.8
3.3 4.4 2020 12 31 3.3
2020 12 31 1.6

3.1 2020 12 31 3.1 2021
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(iv))

2019

21

2019

2020

18

22

19

10

1.08 1.20

2036

1.25 2.00

2028

2.30

2032
3.42
3.41
2.90

2023
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6,179 6,975
185 224
114 152
6,478 7,351
1 1
5,150 4,996
2,046 2,000
- 11,000
13,675 25,348
(6,280) (1,126)
7,395 24,222
1.08 1.20
2,000

oOoOooodn

3,000
2022

2,000
2022
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2021 2020
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(i) 113,522 109,018

(i) 98,945 83,968

(iv) 6,203 5,248

) 36,725 19,763

439,552 393,561

431,910 387,991

7,642 5,570

439,552 393,561

31,332 16,141

408,220 377,420

439,552 393,561
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- 234 359 119 - 712
- 211 317 114 - 642
- 209 313 102 - 624
1 - 209 313 95 - 617
2 _ 44 - 11 - 55
3
450 - - - - 450
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

at 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

31 December 31 December

Motes 2021 2020
REMB RMB
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 4 415,981 418,605
Construction in progress 5 51,456 48,425
Right-of-use assets [ 61,186 59457
Goodwill 7 29919 29920
Intangihle assets 8 19,753 18,508
Interests in associates and joint ventures 10 41.166 40,303
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss 248 73
Equaty instruments at far value throngh
other comprehensive income 11 1.216 1.073
Deferred tax assets 12 6688 164
Other assets 13 7.261 6,552
Total non-current assets 634 874 631,080
Current assets
Inventories 15 3.827 3317
Income tax recoverable 437 33
Accounts receivable, net 16 22 389 21.502
Contract assels 17 912 64
Prepayments and other current assets 15 24 585 23,167
Short-term bank deposits and restricted cash 1.929 9,408
Cash and cash equivalents 19 73.281 23.684
Total current assets 127.360 24016
Total assets T6:2.234 715,050
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (CONTINUED)

at 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

31 December 31 December

Notes 2021 2020
RMB RMB
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term debis 20 1821 27.994
Current portion of long-term debis 20 6,280 1,126
Accounts payable 21 114,895 107.578
Acerued expenses and other payvables 22 35,765 57053
Contract liabilities 23 T0.914 63,849
Income tax pavable SEE 350
Current portion of lease habilities 24 13,809 13,192
Total current liabilities 265072 271.142
Met current liahilities (137.712) (187.126)
Total assets less current liabilities 497.162 443,954
Non-current liahilities
Long-term debis 20 7395 24,222
Lease liabilities 24 28,503 27455
Deferred tax liabilitics 12 26,677 24,208
Other nen-current liabilities 31320 1.894
Total non-current liabilities 65,994 TS
Taotal liahilities 331,066 348921
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (CONTINUED)

at 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

31 December 31 December

Noles 2021 2020
RME RMB
Equity

Share capital 25 91.507 80,932
Reserves 26 337167 282.524

Total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company 428,674 363,456
Non-controlling interests 2.494 2,719
Total equity 4311638 J66.1T75
Total liabilities and equity 762,234 715,056

Approved and authorised Tor 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2022 and are signed
on its behalf by:

Ke Ruiwen Li Zhengmao
Executive Director, Executive Director,
Chairman and Chiel Executive Officer President and Chief Operating Officer

The notes on pages 194 1o 286 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million except for per share data)

Motes 2021 2020

RMB RMB

Operating revenues 27 439,552 393561

Operating expenses

Depreciation and amortisation (92,965) {90,240
Metwork operations and support 28 (133.342) (119517
Selling, general and administrative (61,155) {55,059)
Personnel expenses 20 {T6.055) (65, 989)
Other operating expenses 30 (45,08%) (29.074)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 4 - (5.042)
Total operating expenses 31 (408.605) (364.921)
Orperating profit 30.947 28,640
Met finance costs 32 (1.293) (3.014)
Investment income and others 1.244 60

Share of profits of associates and joint ventures 1.966 1.701
Profit before taxation 33804 27.387
Income tax 33 (7.716) (6. 307)
Profit for the vear 26,148 21,080
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME (CONTINUED)

for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million except for per share data)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Tters that will mot be reclassified subseguently to profit ar loss:
Change in fair value of investments in equity instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive income
Deferred tax on change in fair value of investments in equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

ftems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or logs:
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of
subsidiaries outside mainland China
Share of other comprehensive mcome of associates and joint
ventures

(Mher comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (CONTINUED)

tor the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million except for per share data)

Notes 2021 2020
RMB RMB
Profit attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 25,948 20850
MNon-controlling inlerests 200 230
Profit for the yvear 26,148 21.080

Total comprehensive income attributable to
Equity helders of the Company 25,720 20,244
MNon-controlling inlerests 200 232
Total comprehensive income for the vear 25,920 20476
Basic carnings per share (RMB) Eh (.31 (.26
Diluted eamings per share (EMEB) I8 (.31 .26
Number of shares (in million) 25 91.507 #0932

The notes on pages 194 10 286 form part of these consolidated financial statements,
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for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million}
samritarishle w equity holdars of the Compamy
General
Share Cupited Share Surphes risk Celr Exchange Retsined
Holes capiinl FEEE i ] FesErvE fesErves FesErvE Tl T
RMEB EAE EMB (T EME BME B RME
Balance as af 1 Jauary 2020 2 17504 10745 THM3 i3 612 {624} 163272 818
Profi for the venr . . g v . . . 20450 0,
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The notes on pages 194 to 286 form part of these consolidaied linancial statements,
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for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities

Capital expenditure

Purchase of investments

Payments for right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
cquipment

Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal ol mvestments

Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries

Pavments for ¢quity imstruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Purchase of short-term bank deposins

Maturity of short-term bank deposits

Short-term loans granted to China
Telecommunications Corporation
by Finance Company

Net cash used in investing activities

Notes 2021 2020
RMB RMB

(a) 137.533 132,260
(24.847) (28.748)
(206) (74)
(327) (220)

1,637 863

2 24

52 47

3,764 .

(211) -
(9,251) (4.664)

11020 5,695

(b) (2.000) -
(80,287) (87.077)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

Motes 2021 2020
EMB RMB
Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from A Shares Offering, net of issuing
CNPLENSCS 47,516 -
Repavments of principal of lease liabilities (14,035) (12,738)
Proceeds from bank and other loans 38022 21,049
Repavments of bank and other loans {(T4.480) {106,982
Pavment of dividends (%430 (9.262)
Distribution to non-controlling interests (1 (42)
Payment for the acquisition of non-controlling
inieresis - (1)
Contribution from non-controlling interests 99 -
Advanced payment received in respect of
contribution from non-controlling interest - 978
Net deposits with Finance Company i) 3,190 5,728
Increase n statutory deposit reserves placed by
Finance Company {h) (177 (83T
Net cash used in financing activities (7.522) (42, 107)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 49,724 3.076
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 23,084 20,791
Effect of changes in foreizn exchange rate (127 (183}
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December T3.281 23.684
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash from operating activities

2021 2020
EMB EMB
Profit before taxation 33,864 27387
Adjustment for;
Depreciation and amortisation 92,9035 90,240
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment - 5,042
Imparment losses for financial assets and other
items, net of reversal 1.983 1.512
Write down of inventories, net of reversal o9 35
Investment imcome and others (2,244 (60
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures (1.966) {1.701)
Interest income (1,104) (582)
Interest expense 2.404 3.433
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (7 163
Met loss on retirement and disposal of long-lived
assels 5.929 3827
131895 129,296
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021 (Amounts in million)

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash from operating activities

(continued)
2021 2020
RMB BMB
131.895 129296
Increase in accounts receivable (3.327) (1L.771)
Increase i contract assels (318) (132)
Increase i inventories (595) (474)
Increase in prepayments and other current assets (2.031) (116)
Increase in restricted cash (83) (6,097)
Increase in other assets (2.047) (2.971)
Increase in accounts payvable 4,227 5689
Increase in accrued expenses and other pavables T.009 1.879
Increase in contract liabilities 7140 9516
Cash generated from operations 141,868 134,219
Interest received 1,045 594
Interest pad (2.522) (3.524)
Investment mcome recerved Rl 603
Income tax paid (3.718) (232)
Net cash from operating activitics 137,533 132,260

(b} “Finance Company™ refers to China Telecom Group Finance Co., Ltd.. a subsidiary of the
Company established on # January 2009, which provides capital and financial
management services to the member umts of China Telecommunications Corporation,

(r) Significant non-cash transactions
For the vear ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have significant non-

cash investing and financing activities, except the additions of right-of-use assets and lease
liabihities,

The notes on pages 194 1o 286 form part of these consolidated fnancial statements,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, ORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION

China Telecom Corporation Limited (the “"Company™) was incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") on 10 September 2002, The Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafier, collectively referred to as the “Group”) is a leading and large-scale full-
service and integrated intelligent information services provider, providing its individual,
household, government and enterprise customers with imtegrated intelligent information
SEMVICES,

In March 2021, the Company entered into agreements with China Telecommunications
Corporation, the ultimate holding company of the Company, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to sell, and China Telecommunications Corporation agreed 1o purchase
all the share capital in E-surfing Pay held by the Company for a consideration in the
amount of RMB3 897 million (equivalent to approximately HK34,695 million), The
Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, China Telecom Global Limited, entered into
agreements with China Telecommunications Corporation and its subsidiary, Guang Hua
Properties Limited, in March 2021, pursuant 10 which, the Company and China Telecom
Global Limited respectively agreed to sell, and China Telecommunications Corporation
and Guang Hua Properties Limited agreed 1o purchase, 75% of the share capital in China
Telecom Leasing Corporation Limited from the Company and 25% of the share capital in
China Telecom Leasing Corporation Limited from China Telecom Global Limited for a
consideration in the amount of RMBI131 million (equivalent 1o approximately HKS158
million) and RMB44 million (equivalent to approximately HKS53 million), respectively.
The disposals of the two subsidiaries were completed in April 2021, upon which E-surfing
Pay and China Telecom Leasing Corporation Limited ceased to be the subsidiaries of the
Company. The Group recorded gains from disposal of these two subsidiaries of RMB2,218
million in investment income and others in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income

In August 2021, the Company made an initial public offering of 10,396,135,267 A shares
{excluding over-allotment) on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, and an over-allotment of
178,635,111 shares in September 2021, After the completion of the A-share offering, the
total share capital of the Company comprises of 91,507,138,699 shares, of which
13,877,410,000 shares are H shares. On 20 August 2021, the Company became listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, On the same day, all 67,054,958 321 domestic shares of the
Company, which were held by the domestic shareholders including China
Telecommunications Corporation, were also converted into the same number of A shares
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“1FRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by the Intermational Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB"™) that are
mandatorily effective for the current year:

Amendments to IFRS 9, [AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
“Tserest Rave Benclumark Reform — Phase 27

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to IFRS 16, "Covid-f2-Related
e Concessions bevond 30 Juve 20217

The application of the above amendments to IFRSs in the current vear has had no material
effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as issued by the IASB. For the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected 1o influence decisions made by primary users. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
{“Listing Rules”).

As at 31 December 2021, the total current liabilities of the Group had exceeded the
total current assets by RMBI137.712 millien (31 December 2020: RMBI187,126
million). Management of the Company have assessed the Group’s available sources
of funds as follows: 1) the Group's continuous net cash inflow 1o be generated from
its operating activities; 2) the unutilised credit facilities amounting to RMB276, 483
million (31 December 2020: RMB244 326 million); and 3) the Group's other
available sources of financing from domestic banks in mainland China and other
financial institutions in view of the Group's good credit history. Based on the above
considerations, the Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Group has sufficient
funds to meet its working capital commitments, expected capital expenditure and
debt obligations. As a result, the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the vear ended 31 December 2021 has been prepared on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as
madified by the revaluation of cenain financial instruments measured at fair value
{MNote 3(k))

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and lLiabilines and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that management believes are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments abouwt
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
{a) Basis of preparation (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions 1o accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the peried of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods,

Judagments made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant
effect on the consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 47,

{b) Basis of conselidation and equity accounting

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company, When fulfilling the following
conditions, the Company has control over an entity: {(a) has power over the investee,
(b} has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee,
and () has the ability 1o use its power over the investee o afTect the amount of the
investor's returns.

When assessing whether the Company has power over that entity, only substantive
rights (held by the Company and other parties) are considered,

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

The financial results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases,
and the profit attributable 1o non-controlling interests 1s separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the
profit or loss for the year between the non-controlling interests and the equity holders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
atiributable directly or indirectly to the Company. For each business combination,
other than business combination under common control, the Group measures the
non-controlling interests at the proportionate share, of the acquisition date, of fair
value of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets, Non-controlling interests at the end
of the reporting period are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity and consolidated statement of changes in equity, separately
from the equity of the Company’s equity holders. Changes in the Group's interests
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture,

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group exercises
significant influence, but not control, over its management, Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies,

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method and is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee's net
identifiable assets over the cost of the investment (if any) after reassessment.
Thereafier, the investment is adjusted for the Group’s equity share of the post-
acquisition changes in the associate’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment. When the Group ceases to have significant influence owver an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profitor loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Basis of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

All significant intercompany balances and transactions and unrealised gains arising
from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation, Unrealised gains
arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the entity, Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

{c}) Foreign currencies translation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
{(*RMB"). The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries in mainland
China is RMB. The functional currency of the Group's foreign operations is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the foreign operations
operate. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
during the year are translated into the functional currency at the applicable rates of
exchange prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated into the functional currency using the applicable exchange
rates at the end of the reponting period. The resulting exchange differences, other
than those capitalised as construction in progress (Note 3(e)), are recogmised as
income or expense in profit or loss. For the vears presented, no exchange differences
were capitalised,

When preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements, the resulis of
operations of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into RMB at average rate
prevailing during the vear. Assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations
are translated imto RMB at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting peried. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Property, plant and eguipment

Property, plamt and equipment are initially recorded at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (Note 3(h)). The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
working condition and location for its intended use and the cost of borrowed funds
used during the periods of construction. Expenditure incurred after the asset has been
put into eperation, including cost of replacing part of such an item, is capitalised only
when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the item of property,
plant and equipment and the cost can be measured reliably, All other expenditure is
expensed as it is incurred,

Gains or losses ansing from retirement or disposal of praperty, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrving
amount of the respective asset and are recognised as income or expense in the profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated useful
life on a straight-line basis, after taking into account its estimated residual value, as

Follows:

Drepreciable

lives primarily
range from Residual rate
Buildings and improvements 8 to 30 years 3%
Communications network plant 510 10 years 0%-3%

and equipment

Furniture, fixiure, motor 510 10 vears 0%-3%

viehicles and other equipment
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives,
the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part

is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value are
reviewed annually.
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166/297



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
{e)  Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, communications network plant and
equipment and other equipment and intangible assets under construction and pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses (Mote 3(h)). The cost of an
item comprises direct costs of construction, capitalisation of interest charge, and
foreign exchange differences on related borrowed funds to the extent that they are
regarded as an adjustment to interest charges during the periods of construction.
Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use,

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress,
N Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the investment cost over the Group’s interest in
the fair value of the net assets acquired in the mobile communications business (as
defined in Note 7) acquisition,

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment (Note 3(h))
On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of the
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

{g) Intangible assets
The Group's intangible assets are primarily software.

Software that is not an integral part of any tangible assets, is recorded at cost less
subsequent  accumulated amortisaion  and impairment  losses  (Note  3(h))
Amortisation of software 1s mainly calculated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives, which mainly range from 3 10 5 vears

(hy  Tmpairment of goodwill and long-lived assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's long-lived assets, including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with fimite useful lives, construction
in progress and contract costs included in other assets are reviewed periodically to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. These assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable, For goodwill, the impairment testing is
performed annually at each year end, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h) Tmpairment of goodwill and long-lived assets (continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets capitalised as contract
costs under IFRS 15, “Revenne from Contracts with Customers™ (CTFRS 137, the
Group assesses and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to the
relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards, Then, impairment losg, if
any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the extent the carrying
amounts exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to
receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs which relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses. The
assets capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying amount of the
cash-generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment
of that cash-generating umit.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. The recoverable amount of a tangible
and an intangible asset is estimated individually, When an asset does not generate
cash flows largely independent of those fram other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently
{i.e. a cash-generating unit). In determining the value in use, expected future cash
flows generated by the assets are discounted to their present value using a pre- tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted. The goodwill arising from a business combination, for the purpose of
impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination,

An impairment loss is recognised if the camrying amount of an asset or its cash-
cenerating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment loss is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss. Impairment loss recognised in respect of
cash-generating units 15 allocated first 1o reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in
the unit {group of units) on a pro rata basis,

The Croup assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any
indication that an impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years may no
longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used 1o determine the recoverable amount, A subsequent increase in
the recoverable amount of an asset, when the circumstances and events that led to
the write-down cease o exist, is recognised as an income in profit or loss, The
reversal is reduced by the amount that would have been recognised as depreciation
and amorisation had the write-down not occurred. An impairment loss in respect of
aoodwill is not reversed. For the vears presented, no reversal of impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss.

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(1) Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have the rights 1o the assets, and obligation for the liabilities, relating
to the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exisis only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its
interest in a joint operation in accordance with IFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and
losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in the joint operation,

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the
zains and losses until it resells those assets to a third panty

{j) Inventories

Inventories consist of materials and  supplies used in maintaining the
telecommunications network and goods for resale. Inventories are valued ai cost
using the specific identification method or the weighted average cost method, less a
provision for obsolescence.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value MNet realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the

estimated costs of completion, the estimated costs to make the sale and the related
tax expenses,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular-way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular-way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place,

Financial asseis and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for
accounts receivable arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15, Transaction costs that are directly attributable
1o the acquisition of issue of financial assets and financial labilitics (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“"FVTPL"))
are added 10 or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method i1s a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the refevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
praid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition,

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(i} Financial assets measured subsequently at amontised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured
at amortised cost:

* the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and imterest on the principal amount
outstanding,
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for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
(1) Financial assets measured subsequently at amontised cost (continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is caleulated
by applying the effective interest rate 1o the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate 1o the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. I the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is ne longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(it} Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FYVTOCT™)

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group may irrevocably elect to
présent subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income, and accumulate in other reserves, if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3, “Busimess
Cennbingtions ™ applies. These equity instruments are not subject to
impairment assessment, The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained eamings.

Dividend from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment, Dividends are included in the “investment income and others”
line item in profit or loss,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
{iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVTOC or designated as FVTOCT are measured at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of cach
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest eamed on the financial asset and is included in the “investment
income and others” line 1tem.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss ("ECL")
mexdel on financial assets (including accounts receivable, linancial assets included in
prepayments and other current assets, short-term bank deposits and restricted cash,
cash and cash equivalenis) and other item (contract assets) which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (*12m ECL™)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months afier the reporting date, Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss expenence, adjusted for factors that are
specific 1o the debiors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

3
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and contract
assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances or credit-impaired debtors, and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk charactenstics, nature of services
provided as well as type of customers, such as receivable from telephone and Internet
subscribers and from enterprise customers.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL,
unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since imitial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised 15 based on significant increases in the hkelthood or nsk
of a default occurring since initial recognition,

{i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Croup compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurnng
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reascnable and supponable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Inn particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

*  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due
dates;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or intermal credit rating (if available);

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

* existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or
lezal environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

¥
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(1) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default
accurs when information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or mere events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
abservable data about the following events:

= significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower,

* abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event,

*  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

* it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other
financial reorganisation; or

= the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

(ivl  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the coumterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptey proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate, A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(v}  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on the historical data and forward-looking information, The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on accounts receivable using a
provision matnx taking inte consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all coniractual cash flows that
are due 1o the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for accounts receivable (excluding long-term receivables
arising from instalment sale) and contract assets are considered on a collective
basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the grouping,

= Past-due status,
*  WMature, size and industry of debtors; and
*  External credit ratings where available,

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics,

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments measured al amorised cost by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of accounts receivable and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity,

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset's carrving amount and the sum of the consideration received and
teceivable is recognised in profit or loss,

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected
on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCL the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in other reserves is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings,

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets

of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (comtinued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method

Financial liabilities including short-term and long-term debts, accounts payable and
financial liabilities included in accrued expenses and other pavables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Offsetting a financial asset and a Ninancial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in
the comsolidated statement of Anancial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(I} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and time deposits with
original maturities of three months or less when purchased. Cash equivalents are
stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

{m) Revenue from contract with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied. 1.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or serviee (or a bundle of goods or
services) that is distinet or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same,

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if
one of the following criteria is met:

*  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Ciroup's performance as the Group performs;

* the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Groups performs; or

*  the Group's performance does not create an assel with an alternative use 1o the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date,

As such, revenues from contracts with customers of telecommunications services are
wenerally recognised over ime dunng which the services are provided to customers.

Oiherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control
of the distinet good or service. As such, revenues from sales of equipment are

recognised at a point in time when the equipment is delivered to the customers and
when the control over the equipment have been transferred to the customers,

k¥
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

{m) Revenue Mrom contract with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services that the Group has transferred to a customer but the right is conditioned
on the Group's future performance. A contract asset is transferred to accounts
receivable when the right becomes unconditional. A contract asset i1s assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, 1.¢. only the passage of time s required
before payment of that consideration is due,

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received consideration {or an amount of
congideration is due) from the customer. When the Group receives an advance
payment before the performance obligation is satisfied, this will give rise 10 a
contract liability, until the operating revenues recognised on the relevant contract
exceed the amount of the advance payment.

The Group provides subscriber points reward program, which rewards customers
based on their consumption amounts and lovalty. Under the reward program, the
Group allocates part of the transaction price to subscriber points according to the
stand-alone selling prices of subscriber points and relevant goods or services. The
standalone selling price of each point in the customer point rewards is based on its
fair value. The allocated portion of transaction price for the subscriber points reward
is recorded as contract liability when the rewards are granmted and recognised as
revenue when the points are redeemed or expired.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted
for and presented on a net basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
{m) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation, the Group allocates
the transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinet good or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It represents the price at
which the Group would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer. If
a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any
performance obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services 1o
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is generally
measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

{m) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Principal versus azent

When another party is involved in providing geods or services to a customer, the
Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party {i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good
or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of
the specified good or service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party before that good or service
is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange
for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Consideration payable to a customer

Consideration payable to a customer includes cash amounts that the Group pays, or
expects to pay, to the coustomer, and also includes credit or other items that can be
applied against amounts owed to the Group. The Group accounted for such
consideration payable to a customer as a reduction of the ransaction price and,
therefore, of revenue unless the payment to the customer is in exchange for a distinet
good or service that the customer transfers to the Group and the fair value of the good
or service received from the customer can be reasonably estimated. Accordingly, if
consideration payable to a customer is accounted for as a reduction of the transaction
price, the Group recognises the reduction of revenue when (or as) the later of either
of the following events occurs: (i) the Group recognises revenue for the transfer of
the related goods or services to the customer; and {ii} the Group pays or promises to
pay the consideration (even if the payment is conditional on a future event).

Certain subsidies payable to third party agent incurred by the Group in respect of
customer contracts, which will be ultimately enjoyed by end customers, and other
subsidies incurred by the Group directly pavable 1o its customers, are qualified as
consideration payable to a customer and accounted for as a reduction of operating
Tevenues.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
{m) Revenue rom contract with customers (continued)
Ineremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group incurs to
obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have incurred if the contract had
not been obtained.

Certain commissions incurred by the Group paid or payable to third party agents,
whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into telecommunications
service agreements with the Group, are qualified as incremental costs. The Group
recognises such costs as an asset, included in other assets, if' il expects to recover
these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a
systermnatic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services 1o which the assets relate, The asset is subject 10 impairment review,

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental costs 1o
obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit
or loss within one year.

Costs to Tulfil a contract

When the Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract, it first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing which
it recognises an asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following criteria:

*  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the Group
can specifically identify,

*  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in
satisfying (or in continuing to satisty) performance obligations in the future; and

* the costs are expected to be recovered,

The asset 50 recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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J. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration,

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under [FRS 16 at inception or modification date. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on a
portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio

Allecation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value

assels. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3., SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of nght-of-use asset includes:

*  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received,

* any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

*  anestimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlving asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than
adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of
the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the consolidated
statement of financial position
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3, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
bomrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable,

The lease payments include:

*  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

* wvariable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

*  the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain 1o be exercised by the
Group; and

*  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Vanable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are imitially measured
using the index or rate as at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the peried on
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and
lease payments,

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets) whenever:

*  the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of assessment,

*  the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates Following a
market rent review, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.
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3, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
ift

+  the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one
or more underlying assets; and

*  the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease lability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabiliies by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non- lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,

Covid-19-related rent concessions

Since 2020, in relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of
the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group had elected 1o early apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met!

*  the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

= amy reduction in lease payments afTects only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2021, which has been extended to lease payments due on or before 30
June 2022 and

*  there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions (continued)

As a result of applying the practical expedient, the Group accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes were not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments, The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or
walved with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs,

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases,
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlving asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases,

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables atl
commencement date at amounts equal to net mvestments in the leases, measured
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial
measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as 1o reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Fental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, Varable lease payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate
are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

J. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)
Allocation of consideration to componenis of a contract
When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies
IFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Mon-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone selling prices.
Refundable rental deposits
Retundable rental deposits received are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value, Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments from lessees,
Sublease
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the
sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset ansing from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.
Lease modifications
Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms
and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications, including lease incentives
provided through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.,
The Group accounts for a modification 1o an operating lease as a new lease from the

effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(o) Net inance costs

Met finance costs comprise imterest income on bank deposits, interest costs on
borrowings, interest expense on lease liabilities and foreign exchange gains and
losses. Interest income from bank deposits is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method,

Interest costs incurred in connection with borrowings are calculated using the
effective interest method and are expensed as incurred, except to the extent that they
are capitalised as being directly attributable to the construction of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial peried of time to get ready for its intended use,

ip) Research and development expense

Research and development expenditure is expensed as incurred if the criteria of
recognition as intangible assets were not met. For the vear ended 31 December 2021,
research and development expense, other than those related personnel expenses and
depreciation was RMB3.379 million (20200 RMB2,.215 million). Research and
development related personnel expenses and depreciation for the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted o RMB3I, 432 million (20200 RMB2.392 million) and
RMB122 million (2020: RMB130 million), respectively.

(q) Employee benefits

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution retirement plans administered by
the PRC government and defined contribution retirement plans administered by
independent external parties are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Further
information is set out in Note 45,

Compensation expense in respect of the share appreciation rights granted is accrued
as a charge to the profit or loss over the applicable vesting period based on the fair
value of the share appreciation rights. The hability of the accrued compensation
expense is re-measured to fair value at the end of each reporting period with the effect
of changes in the fair value of the liability charged or credited to profit or loss. Further
details of the Group’s share appreciation rights scheme are set out in Note 46
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(r)  Government grants

Government grants shall only be recognised until there is reasonable assurance that:

= the Group will comply with all the conditions attaching to them; and
* the grants will be received.

Government grants that compensate expenses incurred are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred

Government grants relating to assets are recognised in accrued expenses and other
payables and other non-current liabilities and are credited to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits wall be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. Where the time
value of money 15 material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannol be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occumence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent Labilities
unless the probability of cutflow of economic benefits is remote,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
()  Value-added tax (“VAT")

Output VAT rate for basic telecommunications services (including wvoice
communication, lease or sale of network resources) is 9% since 1 April 2009, while
the cutput VAT rate for value-added telecommunications services (including Internet
access services, short and multimedia messaging services, transmission and
application service of electronic data and information) is 6%, and the output VAT
for sales of telecommunications terminals and equipment is 13% since | April 2019,
Input VAT rate depends on the type of services received and the assets purchased as
well as the VAT rate applicable to a specific industry, and ranges from 3% to 13%
since | April 2019,

Outpaet VAT is excluded from operating revenues while input VAT is excluded from
operating expenses or the original cost of equipment purchased and can be netted
against the output VAT, arriving at the net amount of VAT recoverable or payable
As the VAT obligations are bome by branches and subsidiaries of the Company,
input and output VAT are set off at branches and subsidiaries levels which are not
offset at the consolidation level. Such net amount of VAT recoverable or payable is
recorded in the financial statement line items of prepayments and other current assets
and accrued expenses and other payables, respectively, in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

(u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movement in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except 10 the extent that it
relates to items recogmised in other comprehensive income, or directly in equity, in
which case the relevanmt amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Current tax is the expected tax pavable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reponting period, and any adjustment 1o tax payable in respect of
previcus years. Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. The amount of deferred
tax is calculated on the basis of the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the hability 15 settled,
The effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except for the effect of a change in tax rate on the carrving amount of deferred
tax assets and liabilities which were previously recognised in other comprehensive
income, in such case the effect of a change in tax rate is also recognised in other
comprehensive income,
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

J. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Income tax (continued)
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable income will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax
assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The Group considers that assets and liabilities relating to leasing arise from a single
transaction, The Group applies IAS 12, “fhconre Taxves " requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole, Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting
in net deductible temporary differences.

(v) Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the peried in which they are declared.

(w) Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

{i})  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the
Group's parent
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J. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(w) Related parties {continued)
(b}  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

{i})  The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others},

{ii}  The entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or an associate
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the Group is a member);
or the Group is an associate or joint venture of the entity (or an associate
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the entity is a member),

(i} The entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third pany;

(iv)  Theentity is a joint venture of a third entity and the Group is an associate
of the third entity; or the Group is a joint venture of a third entity and
the entity is an associate of the third entity,

(v}  Theentity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vi) A person identified in (a)i) has significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(x) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities
from which revenues are earned and expenses are incurred, and is identified on the
basis of the internal financial reports that are regulardy reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker in order to allocate resources and assess performance of
the segment. For the years presented, management has determined that the Group
has one operating segment as the Group is only engaged in the integrated
telecommumications business, The Group’'s assets located owside mainland China
and operating revenues derived from activities outside mainland China are less than
10% of the Group’s assets and operaning revenues, respectively. No geographical
area information has been presented as such amount is immaterial. No single external
customer accounis for 10% or more of the Group's operating revenues,
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Bwikdings Communcations Furmature, fixture,
amd network plamt and  motor vehiches and
improvements equipmsen wther equipment Total
EMEB RME RMB RMB
mallwon mallaeay mwnlhon b lsedi
CostDeemed cost:
Balance as at 1 January 2020 104,365 85717 114635 L 717
Additions 425 3% 253 817
Tramatierred from construcizon in
prognes 2349 R4 567 1,71 8,607
Retirement and disposal (1.433%) (53,5000 (3,030) (57.974)
Reclassafication (L] {312) 522 -
Balance as at 31 December 2020 105,554 Aol .62 1 033,167
Additions 84 175 325 T
Tramesfimed from constrsciion in
PO 24046 72,260 1625 76351
Retirement and disposal (1,146} {74.532) {2,540 {THA3E)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 107,198 H04.314 30,152 1 031,654
Accumuluted depreciation and
impairment;
Balance as at 1| January 2020 (61, 785) {30G.35T) {23,567y (591,704
Dxepreciation chargs for the vear (4.196) (64,208} (2.038) (T0.442)
Prowasian fir nnparment boss - (5027 (153 (3.042)
Written back on retinement s
dasposal 1324 48451 1856 31,631
Rexlnssification 5 401 (AU -
Balance us a1 31 December 2020 64 4549} {526,740} (23,173 (614,361
Deepreciation charge for the vear (3.997) (63,113) {2,396) (71.506)
Provisian for imparment boas - A EL ] {121)
Written back om retinement and
dasposal 1022 6,735 2,749 0506
Balance us at 31 December 2021 (670243 (535.237) {21820 (G15.683)
Mot hook value
ws a3 December 2021 39,574 IR0TT 733 4415581
MNet ook valuc
a5 1t 31 December 2020 4,945 3654671 78954 418,645
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for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)

As a result of the comtinuing optimisation of the Group’s 4G mobile network coverage and
the scale deployment of the Group's 5G mobile network, the utilisation of the Group's 3G
mobile network have been decreasing rapidly. For the yvear ended 31 December 2020, 3G
handset data traffic only accounted for a low proportion of the Group’s total handset data
traffic. As a result, the Group has identified an impairment indicator on the 3G specific
mobile network assets (the “3G Assets”), Given the Group has made a commitment in the
year to gradually terminate its use of 3G Assets in the near future, the Group performed an
impairment test on the 3G Assets on the basis of each individual asset as at 31 December
2020. The recoverable amount of the 3G Assets was determined based on their fair value
less costs of disposal, which was nominal. As a result, for the vear ended 31 December
2020, an impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of RMBS,042 million was
recognised. Mo additional impairment was provided for the year ended 3 | December 2021,

5. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

RMB

million

Balance as at 1 January 2020 59,206
Additions 84,145
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (88.607)
Transferred to intangible assets {6,319}
Balance as at 31 December 2020 48425
Additions 85,582
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (76,351)
Transterred to intangible assets {6,200}
Balance as at 31 December 2021 51,456
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6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Compmncalion

Leasehold towers and
land  Buildings relaied asseis  Equipment  Others Total
RMB RMB RMB EME RME RME
million miilliomn mmillson maillion  mullion  mmblion
As ot 31 December 2021
Carrying amonm 20,207 16,677 3034 10,9227 141 Gl 186
As at 31 December 2020
Carrving anwoun 20,441 8672 I8 Biin 11,230 48 59 45T
For the year ended 31
Decembar 2021
Depreciation charge Tk 3044 5078 2513 9% 150N
For the vear ended 31
Deecember 2020
Depreciation clurge 45 1620 T.042 2151 7 4242

The Group leases telecommunications towers and related assets, land and buildings,
equipment and other assets for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable,

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for buildings and other assets. Asat 31
December 2021 and 2020, the ponfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed in this note.

For the yvear ended 31 December 2021, expenses relating to short-term leases amounting
to RMB 1,006 million (2020: RMB1,077 million), expenses relating to leases of low value
assets (excluding short-term leases of low value assets) amounting to RMB34 million
{2020: RMB46 million) and variable lease payments not included in the measurement of
lease liabilities amounting to RMBS, 151 million (2020; RMBS5,151 million), are
recognised in profit or loss,

For the year ended 31 December 2021, total cash outflow for leases was RMB21,952
million {2020: RMB20,798 million), and additions to right-of-use assets were RMB 18,081
million (2020: RMB13,561 million).
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7. GOODWILL

31 December
2021 2020
RMB RMBE
million million
Cost!
Goodwill arising from acquisition of mobile
communications business 29919 29,920

On | October 2008, the Group acquired the mobile communications business and related
assets and liabilities, which also included the entire equity interests of China Unicom
{Macau) Company Limited (currently known as China Telecom (Macau) Company
Limited) and 99.3% equity interests of Unicom Huoasheng Telecommunications
Technology Company Limited (currently known as Tianyi Telecom Temunals Company
Limited) from China Unicom Limited and China Unicom Corporation Limited
{collectively “Unicom Group”™). The purchase price of the business combination was
RMB43 800 million, which was fully settled as at 3| December 2010, In addition, pursuant
to the acquisition agreement, the Group acquired the customer-related assets and assumed
the customer-related liabilities of mobile communications business for a net settlement
amount of RMB3 471 million due from Unicom Group, This amount was subsequently
settled by Unicom Group in 2009, The business combination was accounted for using the
purchase method,

The goodwill recognised in the business combination is attributable to the skills and
technical talent of the acquired business’s workforce, and the synergies expected to be
achieved from integrating and combining the mobile communications business into the
Group's telecommunications business,

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the goodwill arising from the acquisition
of mobile communications business was allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit
of the Group, which is the Group’s integrated telecommunications business. The
recoverable amount of the Group's integrated elecommunications busingss is estimated
based on the value in use model, which considers the Group’s financial budgets covering
a five-year period, revenue growth rate between 3.7% to 4.6% (2020: 3.6% to 4.3%) and
a pre-tax. discount rate of 9.8% (2020: 9.6%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 1.5% growth rate (2020: 1.5%). The Group performed
impairment tests for the goodwall at the end of the reporting peried and determined that
goodwill was not impaired, The Group believes any reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions on which the recoverable amount 15 based would not cause 1ts recoverable
amount to be less than carrying amount.
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software
RMB
million
Cost:
Balance as at 1 January 2020 43,794
Additions 1,489
Transferred from construction in progress 6,319
Retirement and disposal (748)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 S0.E54
Additions 2038
Transferred from construction in progress &.200
Retirement and disposal {3,352)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 35,740
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Balance as at 1 January 2020 (27,445)
Amaortisation charge for the year (5,556)
Written back on retirement and disposal 655
Balance as at 31 December 2020 (32.346)
Amaortisation charge for the year (6,363)
Written back on retirement and disposal 2,722
Balance as at 31 December 2021 {35,987)
Net book value as at 31 December 2021 19,753
MNet book value as at 31 December 2020 18 508
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries which principally affected the operating resulis,

assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Hog prerel 1as sl
Pace of cagetal (tn RAIE
Typoaf Eaate of mCrpstion s million unlens  Prosial
Hame of company Jegall emtity: Ingopodulon ] othermise sisial)  soiivey
Chini Tebooom Syslem Limined Comipany 13 Seplemabear 201 PRC 2 Prowiaa ol sy
Inggratson T, Limied milegration and
oonsuling services
China Tedocom Limped Compam 25 February 3500 Hong Kong Spocial MBI millisn Provision of
ilabal Limied Audrrenmtrative LSS e
Begion ol the seTVTs
PiC
China Teksom Best Tone  Limied Compay 08 Moggomd 3007 PR 34 Provision of P
Infirrations Sorvaes O, Tore miremalon
Limsaed AT
Thena Tokocom (hisau) Lumuted Compuny 15 Cxtcher 24 Slagwa el MO mulhies Provpacn of
Cramparny 1L imned dsin iSRRI IR AT S
Rggaon of e FRC SETIRTH
Tianye Tebeoom Termasahs  Limaed Compary 1 July 2 FRC S0 Habes of
Company Limied telceramnicationa
1eiTeridls
Chira Tebocom (Smpapore)  Limed Compary & Okclober 50 Zimgapere S51000,001  Provicon of
Fie. Limsied imermatonal value.
added petwork
LT
Aemahien Sheknu Limited Compary 5 May 1054 PRE 0 Provisenef
Tebocommunicstons Icheooammimn i atkone
Corpany Limited nericen
Chins Telooom (Awdrala) Limitesd Company 00 Jarvowry 2001 Ajmiralin AUTH mulliss Prowvsson of
Fiy Lasted inersatnal vialus-
sdidod network
IV
Charm Tolesom lommed Company T by 2012 Faouih heoro RREWS milliom  Proveson of
Korea Co., Ld irnersatonal vilue-
adidead network
Vi
Chirm Tolosomy Limited Comgpuy Tk Jumer 2002 Lishvem MYRETILSHG  Proveson of
Alalaymna ) S0 BHIY inermilonal valus-
sadidod network
SePICER
Chire Telecom Limried Compary & July 3052 Wreinam VRIS pullles  Provisson of
Irformation Tochaalkags intermabonal value-
W ietnami Co . Lad wilded network:
seriices
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Feognirod tovund
Place off capatal (in KA
Typeaf Date af it pralion miliion unles  Pricipal
Hame of sompany legal ermtity el operals stberiise slilod]  aclivis
LS Callrg & Limred Company P Jume JI1H PR 254 Provmaon of mmic
Technedogy Ca., Lad prodecton and
relalad ol
HTYECS
hana Tokoom (Fuopei Lmiesd Compuany = March S0k The Linied Bomgdom GOAPIE TS millies Provsonof
Limrsd of Cingat Brimin ssd 1RO AT O
mwrthern bicland MR
Ehejang Vigs Lt Consfuy 19 Augpant 2] 3 FRC 1§ Provraon of slesd
Teshroboge Tn, Lid TIERETIZRT BErvieT
Taimyi {igital Limited Compary M) Noverber 317 RO S000  {'apal imveibment
Hoklmg o, Lid and provwsion of
comulimg srvices
huna Tekeom o Limaed Compary & Jumuary 219 PR SN Provioonof capital
Fmarce Co, Lad and finsncal
“Fimife Compasy ™) A RApCEACEL
aeries
Charin Tekeoam Choud Limped Company 1 Juh 2071 PR 4000 Provkmocn o ¢ load
Teshnodogy Co . 15d proheste andd
BTV
Eesarfing Dagiial Lile Limnied Coqmsry & July 2071 PR P00 Provisonof
Tecknology Co, L2d compreheman
sodateons felied 1o
the drgilal e

Except for Shenzhen Shekou Telecommunications Company Limited which is 51%% owned
by the Company, Zhejiang Yixin Technology Co., Lid which is 65% owned by the
Company and Finance Company, which 15 70% owned by the Company, all of the above
subsidiaries are directly or indirectly whelly-owned by the Company, Mo subsidiaries of
the Group have material non-controlling interests, Mone of the subsidiaries had issued any
debt securities at the end of the year.
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10, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

31 December

2021 2020
EMB RMB
million million

Cost of investment in associates and joint
ventures 36,983 37168
Share of post-acquisition changes in net assets 4,183 3.135
41,166 40,303

The Group’s interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity
method. Details of the Group's principal associates are as follows;

Attribnstable
Mame of company Oty inigrest Principal activitics
China Tower Corporation 20,3 Construction, maintenance and operation
Limited {Mote (i) of communicalions towers as well as
ancillary facilines
Shanghai Infornetion 24.0% Provision of information technolegy
Investment 1ncomporation consullancy scrvices
(Mote (i)
Motes:

{i)  China Tower Corporation Limited ("China Tower™) is established and operated in
the PRC, and listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 8 August 2018,

(it} Shanghai Information Investment Incorporation (“Shanghai Info-investment™) is
established and operated in the PRC and is not traded on any stock exchange.
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10, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information of the Group's principal associates and reconciled 1o
the carrying amounts of interests in associates in the Group's consolidated financial

statements are disclosed below:

China Tower

31 December

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Current assets 458,344 43,204
Mon-current assets 274915 294,176
Current liabilities 76,182 106,635
Mon-current liabilities 57,723 44,499
2021 2020

RMB RMBE

million million

Operating revenues 86,585 81,099
Frofit for the vear 7,328 6,427
Other comprehensive income for the year (1) -
Teotal comprehensive income for the vear 1,327 6,427
Dividend received from China Tower 807 525

6l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

10, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
China Tower (continued)

Reconcile to the Group's interests in the associate;

31 December

2021 2020
RMB RMB
million million
Met assets of China Tower 189354 186246
Mon-controlling interests of China Tower _ {n
The Group's effective interest in China Tower 200.5% 20.5%
The Group's share of net assets of China Tower 38,818 38,180
Adjustment for the remaining balance of
the deferred gain from the Tower Assets
Disposal (56%) (7117)
Carrying amount of the interest in China Tower
in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group 38,250 37.463
Fair value of China Tower calculated based on
quoted price 25374 34,625
Shanghai Info-investment
31 December
2021 2020
BB RME
million million
Current assets 6,783 4,752
MNon-current assets 4272 5,878
Current liabilities 1,712 2,124
Mon-current liabilities 1,814 1,803

62
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

10, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Shanghai Info-investment (continued)

2021 2020
REMB EMB
million million
Operating revenues 1.470 982
Profit for the vear 663 641
Other comprehensive income for the vear - (17)
Total comprehensive income for the vear 663 624
Dividend received from Shanghai Info-
investment 18 14
Reconcile to the Group's interesis in the associate:
31 December
2021 2020
EMB RMB
million million
MNet assels of the Shanghai Info-investment 7,529 6,703
MNon-controlling interests of Shanghai Info-
invesiment (258) (83)
The Group's effective interest in Shanghai Info-
investment 24 0% 24 0%
The Group’s share of net assets of Shanghai
Info-investment 1,745 1,589
Carrying amount of the interest in Shangha
Info-investment in the conselidated financial
statements of the Grou P 1.745 1.589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

10, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Aggregate financial information of the Group's associates and joint ventures that are not
individually material 15 disclosed below:

2021 2020
RMB RME
million million
The Group's share of profit of these associates and
joint ventures 122 86
The Group's share of total comprehensive income of
these associates and joint veniures 122 BG
31 December
2021 2020
RMB RMB
million million
Aggregate carrying amount of interests in these
associates and joint ventures in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group 1171 1,251

1LEQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31 December

MNotes 2021 2020

RME RMB

million million

Equity securities listed in the mainland China i) 942 B8
Unlisted equity securities (i1} 274 235
1.216 1,073

Motes;

(i) The above listed equity instruments represent ordinary shares of entities listed in the
mainland China. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for
long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have elected to designate
these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCT as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments' fair value in profit or loss would not be
consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term
purposes and realising their performance potential in the long run.

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

1. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

Motes (continued):

(i} The above unlisted equity securities represent the Group’s equity interesis in various
private entities established in the PRC. The directors of the Company have elected to
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FYTOCT as they believe that
the Group will hold these investments for long-term strategic purposes.

12. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position before offsetting are as follows:

Deferred tox asats Digfirmed ta linbilatics
31 Dovember 31 Devenber 51 Devemiber 31 Devember
2021 220 2021 2030
RMB RME RME RMB
million millign millien millzan
Acorued salumes, wages and other
benelins 1416 430 - -
Depreciation, write=off and impainment
of property, plant and equipment, ete, 5005 56T (30 202) (25 200
Impasrment losses of pocounts
receivishle 1,140 14038 - -
Subsenber s rewand b | (K58 a5
Right-of-use asacis and lease labilitses B3 T - -
Faguwity imstruments at fuir vahee through
other compechensive income - - {131} (137
Dieferred tax asucta labilites) 12k Ai5d 432 (3),353) (25.346)

As a1 31 December 2021, the offseiting amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities was RMB3,676 million (31 December 2020; RMB1, 138 million). As at 31
December 2021, net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities after offsetting were
RMB6,688 million (31 December 2020: RMBE, 164 million) and RMB26.677 million (31
December 2020: RMB24,208 million), respectively.
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206/297



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

12. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The movement of deferred tax assers and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

Recogmsad
consolidaled
Balamee os o sinlernea of
1 Jamuary comprchensive Disposnl of  Balimee as al 31
Hi2l G subsdinries December 2021
RME EMBE RMB RMB
million mallioa million mallien
Avereed salmnies, wages anc sl benefils 430 457 (i 1416
Depreciation, write-all and impairmsent of
propesty, [nl.ulll.l.l.rh'lq.upl.ﬂhru.:rll. e, S079 k13 {29y 5005
Imnpairment loswus of sccounts receivable 1,059 121 (20 1,140
Subscriber pomis newnrd program 863 195 - 1058
Raght-of-use nssels ond heose abalities Tl kel - RAS
Defermad tax assels i 302 1,112 {301 10,364
Deprociation, write-ofl and impasroent of
property, plant and cquipment, etc. (25,200} (3,007) 14 (30.202)
Equity’ mstraments ol fimir valoe through other
comprehensive meome (137} (153 1 (151}
Deferrad tax lahilitics (25,5460 (S22 15 {30353
Recognisad in
conslidated
stntermnent of
Balance as at 1 comprehengive Balance as at 31
January J020 [y Deocember 2020
RMEB HMB RMIE
wullion mllion mullion
Aceruied slarses, wages and other beefits 2 12% 430
Deprociation, write-off and impairment of
property, plant ind equapiment, ofc. 4,256 1423 5679
Impsarmeent Josses of accounts receivable 1067 128} 1039
Subscriber poais rewnzd progrm s 155 b1k
Righi-af-use asseis and lease Tiabilities 744 47 Tal
Defermad tax assels 7.577 1725 9307
Dieprecistion, write-off and impairment of
propenty, plant and equipinent, e, {8844} (6.363) (23.200)
Equity mstrumnents ol fiir valoe through other
compreheisive moote {234 o7 {137}
Diefemead tax linbilities { P07} (i, 268} (23,3460
L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

13. OTHER ASSETS
31 December
MNote 2021 2020
RMB RMB
million millicn
Contract costs (1) 1,436 1,151
Installation fees - 16
Other long-term prepaid expenses and receivables 5,825 5,385
7.261 6,552
Mote

(i) Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 mainly relate to the cost
of installing terminal equipment at subseribers’ homes for the provision of Smart
Family services of the Group, The amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit
or loss during the vear ended 31 December 2021 was RMB1,584 million (2020
RMB1.234 million). There was no impairment in relation to the opening balance of
capitalised costs or the costs capitalised during the vear

o7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

14. JOINT OPERATION

On 9 September 2019, the Group entered into a framework cooperation agreement
(the “Cooperation Agreement™) with China United Network Communications
Corporation Limited (*China Unicom™) to co-build and co-share certain 3G access
network, Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Group and China Unicom
delineate and designate the regions to jointly construct and operate one 3G access
network nationwide, In certain regions, the 3G access network is constructed,
operated and maintained by China Unicom, while the Group operates its 56
business relying on China Unicom’s network; whereas in other regions where the
5G access network is constructed, operated and maintained by the Group, China
Unicom operates its 5G business relying on the Group’s network,

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Group and China Unicom co-share 5G
spectrum resources while the 5G core network is respectively constructed, operated
and maintained by each party. Both parties jointly ensure an unified standard on
network planning, construction, operation, maintenance and service quality in the
5G network co-build and co-share regions, and assure the same service level be
delivered.

The 5G network co-build and co-share arrangement is agreed by the Group and
China Unicom through coordination and promotion institution jointly established
by both parties, in order to set up the relevant mechanism, system and rules with
unanimous consensus reached by both parties. The main function of such joint
coordination and promotion institution is to carry out joint network planning and
investment decision, project initiation and acceptance and other related works, such
as the determination of the location of 3G base stations and the types of equipment
to be used, and coordinate the operation and maintenance of 3G co-build and co-
share network in order to ensure the effective implementation of the Cooperation
Agreement. For example, the timing, scale and location of the 5G base station
construction, selection of equipment and appointment of maintenance suppliers
across all regions are all negotiated and agreed by both parties with unanimous
CONSENsUS.

Under the joint operation, the business and branding of each party continue to
operate independently, and the subscribers to the services are owned by each party,
respectively. Revenues derived from each party’s subscribers are recognised by
each party independently:; cost and expenses are assumed by each party respectively,
while assets constructed by each party and the related liabilities are recognised and
assumed by each respective party.

it
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

15. INVENTORIES

31 December

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Materials and supplies 410 454
Goods for resale 3417 2,833
3,827 3,317

16, ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable, net, are analysed as follows:

31 December

Note 2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Third parties 25,067 23,688
China Telecom Group (i) 1,880 1,784
China Tower 9 23
Other telecommunications operators in the PRC 475 441
27440 25,936

Less: Allowance for credit losses {3,051} i4.434)
22380 21,502

Mote:

(i} China Telecommunications Corporation together with its subsidiaries other than the
Grroup are referred to as “China Telecom Group”,

L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET (CONTINUED)

Asat 31 December 2021 and 2020, the gross carrying amounts of accounts receivable from
contracts with customers amounted to RMB27,339 million, and RMB25 836 million

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable from telephone and Imernet subscribers based on
the billing dates is as follows:

31 December

2021 2020
RMB RMEBE
million million
Current, within 1 month T.104 7068
1 10 3 months 1,683 1,601
4 to 12 months 1,620 1,481
More than 12 months 1.079 o921
11,546 11,071
Less: Allowance for credit losses {2.690) {2,438)
8,856 B.633

Tl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET (CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable from other telecommunications operators and
enterprise customers based on dates of rendering of services is as follows:

Current, within 1 month
I 10 3 months

4 to 12 months

More than 12 months

Less: Allowance for credit losses

31 December
2021 2020
EMB EMB
million million
6,041 5331
2,063 2,785
3486 3,801
3,404 2948
15,894 14,865
(2,361) (1,996)
13,533 12,869

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, included in the net balance of the Group's accounts
receivable are debtors with an aggregate carryving amount of RMBI1,790 million and
BMB1.694 million, respectively, which are past due as at the reporting date.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable for the vear ended 31 December

2021 and 2020 are set out 1in Note $0.

17. CONTRACT ASSETS

Gross carrying amount:
Third parties
China Telecom Group

Less: Provision for impairmment loss

31 December
2021 2020
EMB RMB
million million
702 564
139 49
931 G513
(193 (%)
912 604

Contract assets mainly anse from contracts for the provision of industrial digitalisation
services. The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects
to realise them in its normal operating cyele which is generally within a year.

7l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

18. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASS5ETS

MNote 31 December
2021 2020
REMB RMB
million million
Amounts due from China Telecom Group (1) 2.756 1,189
Amounts due from China Tower 63 138
Amounts due from other telecommunications
operators in the PRC 207 204
Other receivables 4,404 6,569
Less: Provision for impairment loss (508) (508)
Prepayments in connection with terminal
equipment purchases 4,843 &, 080
Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,184 2,994
Value-added 1ax recoverable 9636 8,501
24,585 25,167

Mote:
i) As at 31 December 2021, amounts due from China Telecom Group included a
short=term loan of RMB2,000 million granted to China Telecom Group by Finance
Company, and an impairment allowance recognised at RMB40 million. The
interest rate of the loan is 3.43% per annum,
19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Cash at bank and in hand 71,757 23,193
Time deposits with original maturity

within three months 1.524 491

73,281 23,684

12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

20, SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS
Shorn-term delbis comprise:

31 December

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Loans from banks — unsecured 2821 4831
Super short-term commercial papers — unsecured - 11,999
Loans from China Telecom Group — unsecured = 11,164
Total short-term debis 2,821 27,994

The weighted average interest rate of the Group’s total short-term debts as at 31 December
2021 was 3.7% (31 December 2020: 2.8%) per annum, As at 31 December 2021, the
Group’s loans from banks and other loans bear interest at rates ranging from 3.3% to 4.4%
{31 December 2020: 3.3% to 4.4%) per annum, and are repayable within one year; as af
31 December 2020, super short-term commercial papers bear interest at rates ranging from
1.6% to 2.5% per annum, which were fully repaid in 202 1; the loans from China Telecom
Group bear interest at rate of 3.1% (31 December 20200 3.1%) per annum, and were fully
repaid in 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

20. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS (CONTINUED)

Long-term debts comprise:

31 December
2021 2020
RMB EMB
Imterest rates and
final maturity million million
Bank loans - unsecured
Renminbi denominated Interest rales ranging
(Mote (1)) from 1.08% to
1.20% per annum
with maturities
through 2036 6,179 6,975
US Dollars denominated Interest rates ranging
from 1.25% to
2.00% per annum
with maturities
through 20238 185 224
Euro denominated Interest rate of
2.30% per annum
with maturities
through 2032 114 152
0,478 7,351
Other loans — unsecured
Renminbi denominated 1 1
Medium-term notes - unsecured
(Mote (1)) 3,150 4,946
Company bonds — unsecured
i{Mote (i) 2,046 2,000
Loans from China Telecom
Group — unsecured
Renminbi denominated
(Mote (1v]) - 11,000
Total long-term debis 13,675 25,348
Less: Current portion {6,280) {1.126)
MNon-current portion 7,395 24 222

74
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

20. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS (CONTINUED)
Long-term debts comprise (continued):
Notes:

(i) The Group obtained long-term RMB denominated government loans with below-
market interest rates ranging from 1.08% to 1.20% per annum through banks (the
“Low-interest Loans™), The Group recognised the Low-interest Loans at their fair
value on initial recognition, and accreted the discount to profit or loss using the
effective interest rate method. The difference between the fair value and face value
of the Low-interest Loans was recognised as government gramts in accrued
expenses and other payables and ather non-current liabilities.

{ii)  On 22 January 2019, the Group issued a three-year RMB denominated medium-
term note, amounting to RMEB3,000 million, with interest rate of 3 42% per annum,
and incurred issuing costs of RMB3 million. The medium-term note is unsecured
and is repavable on 21 January 2022,

On 19 March 2019, the Group issued a three-year RMB denominated medium-term
note, amounting to RMB2,000 million, with interest rate of 3.41% per annum and
incurred issuing costs of RMB3 million. The medium-term note is unsecured and
i5 repayable on 18 March 2022,

(i) On 10 March 2020, the Group issued three-vear RMB denominated company
bonds, amounting to RMB2,000 million, to qualified investors on Shanghai Stock
Exchange, with imterest rate of 2.90% per annum. The company bonds are
unsecured and are répayable on @ March 2023,

{ivd  On 25 December 2017, the Group obtained long-term RMB denominated loans,
amaounting to RMB40,000 million, from China Telecommunications Corporation,
with interest rate of 3.8% per annum, which are repayable within 3 to 5 years. The
Group fully repaid these loans amounting to RMB3 000 million, RMB13,700
million, RMB12,300 million and RMB11,000 million in 2018, 2019, 2020 and
2021 respectively.

T3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

20. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS (CONTINUED)

The aggregate maturities of the Group's long-term debis subsequent 1o 31 December 2021
are as follows:

31 December
2021 2020
RMB RMB
million million
Within | year 6,280 1,126
Between | to 2 years 3,103 17,081
Between 2 to 3 years 1,028 3,009
Between 3 to 4 years 995 984
Between 4 o 5 yvears 647 952
Thereafter 1,622 2,196
13,675 25,348

The Group’s short=term and long-term debts do not contain any financial covenants. As at
31 December 2021, the Group had unutilised credit facilities amounting to RMB276,483
million (31 December 2020: RMB244,326 million).

T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

21 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
Accounts payable are analysed as follows:

31 December

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Third parties 80,299 83254
China Telecom Group 21,015 19,272
China Tower 3914 4,544
Other telecommunications operators in the PRC 667 TO8
114,895 107,578

Amounts due to China Telecom Group and China Tower are pavable in accordance with
contractual terms which are similar to those terms offered by third parties.

Ageimg analvsis of accounts pavable based on the due dates 15 as follows:

31 December

2021 2020

REMB RMB

million million

Due within 1 month or on demand 20,293 17,261
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 23,965 24 451
Due after 3 months but within & months 36,338 30,965
Due after & months 34,299 34,901
114,895 107,578

'l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 December
Mot 2021 2020
RMB EMB
million million
Amounts due to China Telecom Group 15,249 11,279
Amounts due to China Tower 1.5%% 1,192
Amounts due to other telecommunications
operators in the PRC 22 34
Accrued expenses 24,041 31,356
Advanced payment received in respect of
comtribution from non-controlling
interests (i) - 978
Value-added tax pavable 1.029 GO0
Deposits and rental receipt in advance 5977 5,807
Accrued salanes, wages and other benefits 8.051 5,807
55,765 57053
Maote:

(i) For the vear ended 31 December 2020, E-surfing Pay, a then subsidiary of the
Company, received RMBOTS million advanced payment in respect of contribution
from non-controlling interests,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31 December

2021 2020

EMB EMB

million million

Third paﬂies T0.713 63,629
China Telecom Group 198 217
China Tower 3 3
70,914 63,849

Majority of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was recognised as operating
revenues for the yvear ended 31 December 2021

14. LEASE LIABILITIES

31 December

2021 2020
RMB RMB
million million
Within one year 13,809 13,192
Within a peniod of more than one year but not more
than two years 8.779 12,585
Within a period of more than two vears but not more
than five years 14,447 11,138
Within a period of more than five years 5,367 3,732
42 402 40,647
Less: Current portion {13,800 (13.192)
Mon-current portion 28,593 27,455
T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

15, SHARE CAPITAL

31 December
2021 2020
RMB RMB
million million
Registered, issned and fully paid
77,6209,728,699 A shares (31 December 2020: 67,054,958,321
ordinary domestic shares) of RMB1.00 each 77,630 67,055
13, 877,410,000 overseas listed H shares of RMB1.00 each 13,877 13,877

91,507 80,032

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company completed the A Share Offering and
the total number of the shares issued in the A Share Offening was 10,574, 770,378 shares
at an offering price of RMB4.53 per share, On 20 Ausgust 2021, all 67,054 958 321
domestic shares of the Company were converted into the same number of A shares

B0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS(CONTINUED)

for the vear ended 31 December 2021

26. RESERVES

The Group
Ciewernl
Cogpatal Share Surpluos sk Cither Exchange Hetn
TeseTve [remimm TESETVES TSV TesErves [ESTVES I
RMEB FEMB RMB EME 40 IE EMB I
mallion million rinal ey milkion miilhion million il
(Mot (1)) (Mot (1)) (Mole{vi (Node i)
Halmee e 1 I.::l'u;-‘!. 2020 17,504 10, Tty TE 3 % @15 {623 163
lotad compreharsive iscame for the vear . . - - {204 {31 2i)
Share of sseocibes and point ventures” other changes
L TESETVES. {306} . . . - .
Divadends (Mote A7) . : F a (G
Approprintions o sstulory surplus reservie (Mote (i) . . LAl - - {l
Appropaiations o general risk reserve (Mode (vi) - 3% -
Balance s a1 31 December 2020 17458 10, Ty T9.85 ld] izl (937) i‘J'SI
T comprehensive icome for the vewsr . . " ; 3 (133 25
Issunmce of shares upon A Shares Offening, net of
TSI CN]ER B s - - -
Contribution from nen-contralling intersits d6i . - - -
Dispozal of subsidianes - . - (3 (28
Share of ssociates and joant ventures” other changes
i reserves {42) . - - -
Dividemls (Mote 37) - - - - (%
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserve (Mote (i }) - - 2423 - - - (2
Appropaations to general risk reserve (Mode (vi) - - Bk -
Balance s 01 31 December 2021 17889 4T 5HET 22377 97 298 {117 1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2021
26. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

The Company

Balince os a1 1 Jamuary 2020

Ternd comprehensive meome for U ver

Share of associales and '|€'ri|1l wenlires” olbher cllaui;,q:% I
TESETVS

Dhvidends (Mode 37)

Approprutions o satulony surplus reserve (Nobe ()

Balasice ag o1 31 Decernber N0

Totad comprehensave meome For the vear

Essumce of shares upon A Shares Offening, net of
T EX]T

Shire of associates and joant ventures” other chimges in
TESETYes

Dividends (Mot 37)

Appropsistions o sistulory surplus reserve (Note (11t )

Balance as al 31 December 2021

Capital Share Swrplus Oitheer Retaimod

reserve [remm TEseTYEs TESeTVes camings

EMEB RMB EME RME RME

millien millson millzon million mallics

(Mot (1)) (Mot (1)) (Mode (1)) (Mot (iv)]

IR 10,744 TEIM3 429 138,312

= - {297y 18,112

{36} - - - -

- - * (%202

- 1811 - (14811

28,803 10,744 79,554 132 I-IS,."H-II

- - 45 MM

- 36,9 = - W

(42} . - - .

. : - - (3439

- 2413 - (2423

28,761 47,687 82277 177 I:'~}£.'.?2.‘1I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS(CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

26. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
Motes:

{i) Capital reserve of the Group mainly represents the sum of (a) the difference
between the carrying amount of the Company’s net assets and the par value of the
Company’s shares issued vpon its formation; (b) the difference between the
consideration paid by the Group for the entities acquired, from China
Telecommumications Corporation, which were accounted for as equity fransactions,
and the historical carrving amount of the net assets of these acquired entities; and
(¢) the difference between the consideration paid by the Group for the acquisition
of non-controlling interests and the carrying amount of the non-controlling
interests acquired

Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the carrying
amount of the Company’s net assets and the par value of the Company’s shares
issued upon its formation

{itf)  Other reserves of the Group and the Company represent primarily the change in
the fair value of investment in ¢quity instruments at FVTOCT and the deferred tax
liabilities recognised due to the change in fair value of those investment in equity
instruments.

{iti)  The surplus reserves consist of stamtory surplus reserve and discretionary surplus
reserve.

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company is required to
transfer 10% of its net profit, as determined in accordance with the lower of the
amount determined under the PRC Accounting S1andards for Business Enterprises
and the amount determined under IFRSs, to the statutory surplus reserve until such
reserve balance reaches 30% of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of any dividend to shareholders. For the vears
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the net profit of the Company determined in
accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and
IFRSs are the same. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
transferred RMB2 423 million (2020: RMB 1811 million), being 109 of the vear's
net profit, to this reserve. As at 31 December 2021, the amount of statutory sumplus
reserve was RMB36, 198 million (31 December 2020: RMB33.775 million),
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

26. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
Motes (continued),

The Company did not transfer any discretionary surplus reserve for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the amount of
discretionary surplus reserve was RMB46,079 million.

The statutory and discretionary surplus reserves are non-distributable other than in
liquidation and can be used to make good of previous vears” losses, if any, and may
be utilised for business expansion or converted into share capital by issuing new
shares to existing shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings or by increasing
the par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that the remaining
statutory surplus reserve balance after such issue is not less than 23% of the
registered capital,

{ivy  According o the Company’s Articles of Association, the amount of retained
eamings available for distribution to shareholders of the Company is the lower of
the amount of the Company's retained earnings determined in accordance with the
PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and the amount determined in
accordance with IFRSs. As at 31 December 2021, the amount of retained earnings
available for distribution was RMBI138,723 million (31 December 2020
RMB145 35351 million), being the amount determined in accordance with IFRSs.
Final dividend of approximately RMB15.569 million in respect of the financial
year 2021 proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statements at the end of the reporting
period (Note 37).

{v)  Pursuam to “Requirements on Impairment Allowance for Financial Institutions”
(Caijin [2012] No. 20) issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC effective on
I July 2012 (the “Requirements™), the Group's subsidiaries, mainly Finance
Company, establish a general risk reserve within equity, through appropriation of
retained earmings, to address unidentified potential losses relating 10 risk assets
The general risk reserve balance should not be less than 1.5% of the ending balance
of risk assets, as defined in the Requirements,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

27, OPERATING REVENUES

Previously, the Group presented operating revenues as revenues from contracts with
customers and revenues from other sources. Revenues from contracts with customers
include revenues derived from wvoice, internet, information and application services,
telecommunications network resource and equipment services and sales of goods and
others. As a result of the deepening of the Group's “Cloudification and Digital
Transformation” strategy, the Group re-categorised the presentation of revenues in 2021
The new presentation categonises operating revenues into service revenues and sales of
goods and others, Service revenues include revenues derived from mobile communications
services, wireline and Smart Family services, Industrial Digitalisation services and other
services. This change in presentation has no effect on reported operating revenues,
operating expenses, net profits or net assets for any of the vears presented. The
comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation,

Disaggregation of revenue

Motes 2021 2020
EMB RMB
million million
Type of goods or services

Service revenues 402 827 373,798
Mobile commumications service revenues (i) 184,157 175,564
Wireline and Smart Family service revenues (i) 113,522 109,018
Industrial Digitalisation service revenues (i) 98,945 83,968
Other service revenues {iv) 6,203 5,248
Sales of goods and others (v) 36,725 19,763
Total operating revenues 439532 393.561
Revenue from customer contracts 431,910 387,991
Revenue from other sources and others T.642 5,570
Total operating revenues 439,552 393 561

Timing of revenue recognition
A pointin time 31,332 16,141
Owver time 408,220 377.420
Total operating revenues 4349 552 303,561

B3
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

27. OPERATING REVENUES (CONTINUED)
MNotes:

(i) Represemt primarily the aggresate amount of mobile communications service fees,
maobile Intemnet access service fees, caller 1D service fees, short messaging  service
fees, ete., charged to customers for the provision of mobile services,

{ii) Represent primanily the aggregate amount of wireline communications service fees,
broadband Internet access service fees, e-Surfing HD service Fees and Smart Family
applications service fiees charged to customers for the provision of wireline services.

{iii) Represemt primanly the aggregate amouni of fees charged to customers for the
provision of Internet datacentre services, cloud services, digital platform services,
dedicated Internet access services, ¢ic,

{iv) Represent primarily the aggregate amount of revenues from property rental and other
revenues.

{v) Represent primarily revenues from sales of mobile terminal equipment as well as
wireline communications equipment and government grant,

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group's existing contracts

represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future when service is provided over
the contract terms over the next 1 1o 3 years,

i
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

28, NETWORK OPERATIONS AND SUPPORT EXPENSES

Note 2021 2020

EMB RMB

million million

Operating and maintenance 79,380 70,943
Utility 16,209 14,637
Network resources usage and related fee (1) 25318 22,766
Others 12,435 11.171
133,342 119517

Mote:

(i) MNetwork resources usage and related fee includes the variable lease payments not
depending on an index or a rate and fee for non-lease components in respect of
communications towers and related assets lease and fee in respect of the short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets, variable lease payments not depending on an
index or a rate and fee for non-lease components in respect of the usage of network
resources provided by third parties,

29, PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Personnel expenses are attributable to the following functions:

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million millien

Network operations and support 48,575 43,260
Selling, general and administrative 27,480 22,729
76,055 65 089

87
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

30, OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Notes 2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Interconnection charges (il 12,858 12,050
Cost of goods sold {ii) 30415 15,440
Donations 12 13
Others {iii) 1,803 1,571
45,088 20,074

MNotes:

(i} Interconnection charges represent amounts incurred for the use of other domestic and
foreign telecommunications operators’ networks for delivery of voice and data traffic
that eriginate from the Group’s telecommunications networks.

(i) Cost of goods sold pnmanly represents cost of telecommunications equipment sold.

{181 ) Others mainly include tax and surcharges other than value-added tax and income tax

31. TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
Total operating expenses for the vear ended 31 December 2021 were RMB408 605 million
(2020: RMB364.921 million) which include auditor’s remuneration in relation to audit

and non-audit services (excluding value-added tax) of RMBST million and RMBT million
respectively (2020 RMB72 million and RMB3 million),

B
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

32, NET FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
EMB RMB
million million
Interest expense on short-term and long-term debts 1,110 1,981
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,399 1,566
Less: Interest expense capitalised™ {1005) (114)
Net interesi expense 2,404 3,433
Interest income (1,104) (582}
Foreign exchange losses 386 1,018
Foreign exchange gains {393) (855)
1,293 3.014
*Interest expense was capitalised in construction in progress
at the following rates per annum 3.00%-4.5% 3.0%%-4 4%
33, INCOME TAX
Income tax in the profit or loss comprises:
2021 2020
RME RMB
million million
Provision for PRC income tax 3,606 1,532
Provision for income tax in other tax jurisdictions 215 135
Dieferred taxation 3.895 4.640
1.716 6,307
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

33. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the expected tax expense with the actual tax expense is as follows:

Motes 2021 2020
EMB RMEBE
million million
Profit before taxation 313,804 27.387
Expected income tax expense at statutory fax rate
of 25% {i) 8,466 6,847
Differential tax rate on mainland China
subsidianes” and branches’ income i) {495) {306)
Differential tax rate on other subsidiaries’ income (i) {(70) (47)
Non-deductible expenses i1} 1,036 a15
Mon-taxable income {iv) (522) (576)
Effect of change in tax rate (v) - (29)
Others (vi) {699) {497)
Income tax expense 1716 6,307
Motes:
(i}  Except for certain subsidiaries and branches which are mainly taxed at the

preferential rate of 15%, the provision for mainland China income tax is based on a
statutory rate of 25% of the assessable income of the Company, its mainland China
subsidiaries and branches as determined in accordance with the relevam income ax
rules and regulations of the mainland China.

(it} Income tax provisions of the Company’'s subsidianies in Hong Kong and Macau
Special Administrative Regions of the PRC, and in other countries are based on the
subsidiaries’ assessable income and income tax rates applicable in the respective tax
jurisdictions which range from 8% to 35%.

{ili}  Amounts represent miscellaneous expenses in excess of statutory deductible limits
for tax purposes.

{iv)  Amounts represent share of profits of associates and joint ventures and
miscellaneous income which are not subject to income tax.

Rl
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STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

33. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Motes (continued);

(v) Hainan branch of the Company obtained approval from tax authority to adopt the
preferential income tax rate of 15% since 2020, Accordingly, deferred 1ax assets
and deferred tax liabilities that were expected to be recovered or settled after 31
December 2019 were adjusted to reflect the change in tax rate. The overall effect
of change in tax rate amounting to RMB29 million was credited to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

{vi)  Amounts primarily represent settlement of tax filing differences of prior year
annual tax return and other tax benefits such as additional tax deduction from
research and development expenses.

@1
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34. DIRECTORS® AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

The following table sets out the remuneration of the Company’s directors and supervisors:

Sallaries,
allowancss
Direciors’ and Retirament
221 SOV T benefits Mscretionmry schenys Shareasad
s i kiinsd bonses’ _eonbritiion s pavEEnls Tanal
RAR RAIE RAIR RAEB RAIR RAIE
thousand Ehisusansd thousand thouesind Thsow sl housand
Exeeutive dircetor
K Rmivven - 234 352 1149 - T3
Li fhmgman . 254 k) 119 . Tz
Shao Cluang b . 211 £l 114 . k2
Liu Guiging, = 209 313 102 - 624
#la Mim' - 209 33 95 - 617
Chen Zhongue’ . 44 - 1 - 53
Non-rrecutive ddrector
Chon Shangguang - - - - = ]
Trube pensdieit
mon-executive
directors®
T Haw Win, Aloysius 54 - - - - 450
Xu Erening L] r] - - . 250
Weng Haadhming Xis - P - - s
Waung Chi Wai, Jason 245 - - 2 i 245
Supervisars
Sl Yioam! = 235 Gk 160 - 1023
Fhang Jianhin - 222 M7 10H) . 1,08
Diai Bin = 195 G a8 = 983
Xu Shiguang - 112 53R 50 - 330
ol Mingiang! - - - - = =
1,190 1503 4,017 U35 - 8150

Mdadam Zhu Min resigned as an executive dinector, executive viee presdent, chiel financial ofTicer, secnciary of the board
and suflsorised representative of te Company en 27 December 2021,

Mr Chen Zhongyue resigned ns an exesutive director of the Company on 19 Jmuary 2021

£

-

The madependent nan-execulive directors” remurirations were for their services ns diectors of the Company.

§OhEr S Y M .‘iu.i":l and Mr You Hulql.mlqg i~Mr Yuu"ln:l.i.gm.‘d Troy Fum;,'l.l'ml. A% uqm-imrs of the l'_'m'ﬂ]m:r o 1T
Drevember 2021, The resgnation of Mr Suwi amd Mr You shall take effect on the divte of electon of the propuoassd superasors
ol an extraordnary seneral moeting of the Company 1o be convemad oo 22 March 2022 Prior t that, Mr Suwi and Mr You
will continse o carry oul their dutics as supervisors.

-

The discretionany bomuses of the executive directors and supervisers were determimed basad on the Group’s performance,
Trunmg the Reporting Period, the Company lso setthed the bonws for the vear 2020, including RME 16 thonsmed for ke
Riwen, RMBER] thveand for 11 ?,Iu,u‘w;ruru. MR thoegnd for f\'l'uldgmg Lis, RMEE thonsawd For Chen
Lhemgvie ad RME364 drousand for each of Lin Guaging and Zhu M

& The remuncration of all dinectors and supervisors were caleulntod hased on teir respective actual terms of oflice within
this year. None of the disectors or supervisors received any inducements for joining the Company or compensstion for loss
af office, or waived or agresd to waive any emoluwments during this vear

a2
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34.DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

allivanncis
ared Retigament
2020 [Hrectins" Benedits IHscretomany schame Share-hasad
SupCTV sy focs mn kimd hinizags” comtribitions pavEnanis Tanal
RMB BAiR RAiE RME Bhil RAIE
thousand thoasand thesand th d th d th d
Executive directors
K Ruiven - 21 5 T3 - B2l
L3 Zhengenno' - 129 dig 4% = G611
Shao (aanglu' - 116 436 A - Lk
Liu Clusging - 197 B 59 - T
Zhu Min - 197 i 52 - T3
Chen Asnpiiss? - 1949 i1 il - TR
Wang (easoquan’ - 151 T 4z - 670
an Toapyging* - 17 13 L3 . 4l
Mamcirruive
ilirectar
Chen Shengpaang = - = - - -
Inlepremibent
no-cuedutive
directors’
Tso Haa Yin, Akwysiis 477 - - a - 477
X Erming 150 - - e = 250
Wang Hsudhimning 2al - - - - 2a1
Weung Chi Wai, Jasom 260 - . - - 260
Supervisors
Sua i - 227 4 44 o T
Zhsng Rarbin - 214 494 49 = 757
13a3 Han" - 110 2 i} - 338
Xu Shiguang = 115 335 33 = ARG
You Mingiang' - - u e u
Warkg Jmngmg® - - - - - -
Yo Shong* - - 5 - - -
1,249 1,026 4,781 556 - 5,512

Mr Li Zhengmao and Mr Shao Guanglu was appointed as executive directors of the Company on 26 May 2020,

br Chen Zhongyue resigned ns an exesutive dirsctor of the Company on 19 January 2021
Belr Wang Cruogquam resigred os an executive dinector of the Company on 4 Degember 2020,

Mr Cino Tomgging resigned s o execuiive dinector of the Company on 17 Jamery 2020

Belr D Ban aned Mr You MMingiang was appointed as supervisors of e Company an 26 May 2020,

o Mr Yang Jianging and Mr Ye Zhong retired as supervisons of the Company on 26 May 2030

The Hlependen non-exocutive disectors’ remuneration were for their services as dinectors of the Company.

The discretionany bonuses of the executive directors and supervisors were determined based on the Group' s performemce.

The remuneration of afl dinsctors and supervisors wene caleulnted based on their respective sctual terms of office within
this vear. Mope ol the directors or supervisors reeeived any inducements for joining the Company or comgsmsation for loss
af office, or waived or ngreed to warve any emobuments during this vear.
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35. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

{a) Five highest paid individuals

MNone of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 were directors of the Company.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five (2020 five) individuals (non-
directors) are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB RME

thousand thousand

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3321 8,248
Discretionary bonuses 4977 2423
Retirement scheme contributions 479 46
10,777 10,717

The emoluments of the five (2020: five) individuals (non-directors) with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands.

2021 2020
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

RMBO ~ RMB1,000,000 “ .
RMB1,000,001 — RMB1,500,000 " 2
RME1,500,001 - RMB2,000,000 1 4
More than RMB2,000,001 4 |

Mone of these emplovees received any inducements for joining the Company or
compensation for loss of office, or waived any emoluments during the vears
presented,

94
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35, INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

{b) Senior management remuneration

The emoeluments of the Group’s senior management are within the following bamnds:

2021 2020
Mumber of MNumber of
individuals individuals
REMBO — RMB 1,000,000 18 21

RMEB 1,000,001 — RMB 1,500,000 - -
RME1,500,001 - RMB2,000,000 s i

36. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the consolidated profit attributable 1o equity holders
of the Company includes a profit of RMB24 234 millien which has been dealt with in the
stand-alone financial statements of the Company

For the vear ended 31 December 2020, the consolidated profit aunbuiable to equity holders
of the Company includes a profit of RMBI1E, 112 million which has been dealt with in the
stand-alone financial statements of the Company

37. DIVIDENDS

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors” meeting on 17 March 2022, a
final dividend of RMBO0.170 per share (pre-tax) totalling approximately RMB15.569
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 was proposed for sharcholders” approval at
the Annual General Meeting. The dividend has not been provided For in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

Pursuant to the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting held on 7 May 2021,
a final dividend of RMBO 104269 (equivalent to HKS0.123) per share (pre-1ax) totalling
RMBS 439 million in respect of the vear ended 31 December 2020 was declared, and paid
on | June 2021

Pursuant to the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting held on 26 May
2020, a final dividend of RMBO.114441 (equivalent to HKS0.125) per share (pre-tax)

totalling RMB9,262 million in respect of the vear ended 31 December 2019 was declared,
and paid on 31 July 2020,

R
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38. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 is baséd on the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of RMB25,948
million and RMB20 850 million, respectively, divided by the weighted average number of
84.442.405,521 shares and 80,932,368,321 shares in issue.

The amount of diluted earnings per share equals basic earings per share as there were no
potential ordinary shares in existence for the years presented.

39. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Capital commitments
Asat 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had capital commitments as follows:

31 December

2021 2020
BRAMB BEMB
million million

Contracted for but not provided
Property 1,831 1,202
Telecommunications network plant and equipment 18,942 18,997
20,773 20,199

Contingent liabilities

{a) The Group assessed and concluded that no material contingent ligbilities were
assumed by the Group with assistance of the PRC lawyers.

(b) Asat 3] December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have contingent liabilities in
respect of guarantees given 1o banks in respect of banking facilities granted 1o other
parties, or other forms of contingent liabilities.

Legal contingencies

The Group is a defendant in certain lawsuits as well as the named party in other
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Management has assessed the
likelihood of an unfavourable outcome of such contingencies, lawsuits or other
proceedings and based on such assessment, believes that any resulting liabilities will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial position, operating resulis or cash ows of
the Group.

i
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets of the Group include cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits and
restricted cash, equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
accounts receivable, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
included in prepavments and other current assets. Financial liabilities of the Group include
short-term and long-term debts, accounts payable and financial liabilities included in
accrued expenses and other payables

{a)  Fair Value Measurements

Based on IFRS 13, “Fair Vafwe Megswrement”, the fair value of each financial
instrument is categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to that fair value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

* Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical fimancial instruments

* Level 20 fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar
financial instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are direetly or indirectly based on observable market data

* Level 3: fair values measured using valuation techniques in which any significant
input is not based on observable market data

The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments (other than long-term debts and
financial instruments measured at fair value) approximate their carrying amounts
due to the short-term matunty of these instruments.

The listed equity securities investments included in the Group’s equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income are categorised as level 1 financial
instruments, As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the Group's listed equity
secunties investments 1s RMB942 million (31 December 2020: RMBS38 million)
based on quoted market price on PRC stock exchanges. The Group's investmenis in
unlisted equity secunties, included in equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, are classified as financial instruments categorised as level 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The fair value of long-term debts is estimated by discounting future cash flows using
current market interest rates offered 1o the Group for debts with substantially the
same characteristics and maturities. The fair value measurement of long-term debts
is categorised as level 2, The interest rates used by the Group in estimating the fair
values of long-term debts, having considered the foreign currency denomination of
the debts, ranged from 2 9% 10 4.9% (31 December 2020: 2 9% 10 4.9%6). Asat 31
December 2021 and 2020, the carryving amounts and fair values of the Group’s long-
term debis were as follows;

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Carrving Faar Carrving Fair
amount value amon value
RMB RMB RMB REMB
il lion million i1 lecan il lien
Long-term debis 13,675 13,444 25348 25294

During the year, there were no transfers among instruments in level 1, level 2 or
level 3.

(b) Risks

The Group's financial instruments are exposed to three main types of nsks, namely,
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (which mainly comprises of interest rate
risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk). The Group's overall risk management
programme Focuses on the unprediciability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carfied out under policies approved by the Board of Directors, The
Board provides principles for overall nsk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and market risk. The Board regularly
reviews these policies and authorises changes if necessary based on operating and
market conditions and other relevant risks. The following summarises the qualitative
and quantitative disclosures for each of the three main types of nisks:

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. For the Group, this anses

mainly from deposits it maintains at financial institutions and credit it provides
to customers For the provision of telecommunications services.

8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits and restricted cash

To limit exposure to credit nsk relating to deposits, the Group primarily places
cash deposits only with large state-owned financial institutions in the PRC with
acceptable credit ratings. The credit risks on bank balances are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

Accounis receivable and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

For accounts receivable and contract assets, management performs ongoing
credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally dees not
require collateral on accounts receivable and contract assets. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
balances individually or based on provision matrix. Furthermore, the Group has
a diversified base of customers with no single customer contributing more than
10% of revenues for the vears presented,

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts receivable and contract assets
at an amount equal to hifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision matnx,
or individually assessed for those debtors with significant balances or credit-
impaired debtors. As different loss patterns were indicated during the analysis
of the Group’s historical credit loss experience between telephone and Internet
subseribers and enmterprise customers, the following tables provide information
about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECL for accounts receivable and
contract assets from telephone and Internet subscribers and enterprise customers,
respectively, as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets arising Mrom contracts with
customers (continued)

Accounts receivable from telephone and Internet subscribers;

31 Deoemibser 2021

Expected Cirnss camying Lass
loss rale aAmcnk allowance
Y RMEB RMB
million million
Current, witlan 1 month I 7164 133
I 1o 3 moanths 2% | 683 kil
4 10 & monihs [ (a2 407
7 1o 12 months 0% 9258 T42
Orwer 12 months 1003 174 1079
11544 2.6

31 December 2020
Expecied Gross camviig Loss
loss nrle sl allowance
Yo RME RMB
millicn million
Current, within 1 month LA T.06:% 132
1 1o 3 months 0% 1.6l 317
4 10 6 months G0 561 331
7 10 12 months B 4240 734
Ower 12 months 10K @2 %21
11,0671 2438
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(i} Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets arising Mrom contracts with
customers (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets from enterprise customers:

31 Deoemisgr 2021

Expected Ciross camyving Laoss

loss rale amont allowance

Fo RMB RMB

million million

It & months 304 7,390 153
T 1o 12 months 1% (6% 173
I 1o 2 years 63% DEE: 61y
2o 3 years 97% i6d 355
Orver 3 years 100% 467 467
LR E 1846
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets arising Mrom contracts with
customers (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets from enterprise customers (continued)

31 Decenber 2020

Expected Giross carmying Loss

loss rale amount allowance

% RME RME

million million

I 1o & months 2% 6031 124
7 to 12 months 2% 1,120 232
L'to 2 years 67% 8 143
210 3 vears 100 347 k]
Over 3 years 1M 324 324
R].507 1458

Asat 31 December 2021, the loss allowance for accounts receivable and contract
assets was RMBS,051 million and RMB19 million (2020; RMEBE4,434 million
and RMBS million), respectively. Loss allowance of RMBS517 million as at 31
December 2021 (2020: RMBS547 million), which was not caleulated collectively
in the above tables, was made individually on debtors with signiticant balances
or credit-impaired debtors

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 1 to 3 vears.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives
of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets arising Mrom contracts with
customers (continued)

Mowvement in the loss allowance account in respect of accounts receivable is as

follows:

2021 2020

RMB RMB

million millicn

At beginning of vear 4.434 4,692

Impairment losses for ECL 1,689 1,382
Amounts written of (1.072) i 1,640%

At end of year 3,051 4.434

(i) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities
as they fall due, and results from timing and amount mismatches of cash inflow
and outflow. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash
balances and adequate amount of committed banking facilities to meet its
funding needs, including working capital, principal and interest payments on
debts, dividend payments, capital expenditures and new investments for a set
minimum period of between 3 to & months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(ii) Liguidity risk {continued)

The following table sets cut the remaining contractual maturities at the end
of the reporting period of the Group's financial liabilities and lease
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on prevailing rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group would be required to repay:

31 Dxemnber 20021
Total Bubore than Moo than
pontraciual Within | woar had 3 voas bud
Carryisg  isdistoeriod 1 yeus oF besia Thas b hany e s
amnund cush flow o e 3 ywars 5 yoan § yearnm
RAIB RMB RME R&E RAE RMB
ol hon million million millios millioa mallizn
Short-toem debis LEZ| LETH AN -
Long-term deben 13,675 15,038 ALY 1218 3200 Pl ]
Arsoanis payahle 1048 FEEE v JEE 5]
Accrued expenaci and other
parables ¥ 33,241 35201
Leass lishilities 43800 46,068 LER 1 LR 18560 575
Thber pon-cufion] Babohine 3 34 12 bt
S AR LIRS T 12 (%I Tod)
31 Dnesmnher 2020
Toka| More than Mdoee than
contracual Within | wedr b I wans bak
Carrving  uslncientol 1 i o b Wbty Jma Wy linc sy
Ameng caxh flow o dharmars 3 vears & yours § vgars
RAIE RABE EhB ENE RN E RMB
el hosy Eilln million ]l mrullios Tl
Sheri-lerm dohis ¥ 4417 WALT
Long-tarm dohin HoHR p -] 1AM ITE:E LX Iadg
Ao payable 10T ATR 107 ATR 107ATE
Sccrued expenacy and ofhe
payabiles 3,78 i, TS 46,715
Leass hahiliies TR EiN [FEET 11863 (FREL] 1A%
235 347 Ted AT . e 51208 | 1715 5O12
—arie i i,

Management believes that the Group's current cash on hand, expected cash
flows from operations and available credit facilities from banks (Note 20)
will be sufficient to meet the Group's working capital requirements and
repay its borrowings and obligations when they become due,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk exposure arises primarily from its short-term debts
and long-term debis, Debis carrying interest at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate sk,
respectively, The Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk by closely

monitoring the change in the market interest rate.

The following table sets out the interest rate profile of the Group’s debts at the
end of the reporting period:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Effactive RMIE Effective RME
mterest mte %% malhon mideresd rvle % mlhon
Fixed rate debts
Shon-tenm debis i 2,146 2.7 2,719
Long-lerm delis 1.1 13675 .7 23,8
153821 4R 06T
Variahle rate debis
Short=temm debis 1T 675 13 3275
673 3,275
Total debis [ S 23,342
Frved mbe debis asa
percentage of o] debis LR 1%

Management does not expect the increase or decrease in interest rate will
materially affect the Group's financial position and result of operations because
the interest rates of 95.9% (31 December 2020: 90,1%) of the Group's shor-
term and long-term debts as at 31 December 2021 are fixed as set out above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Risks (continued)
(iv) Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Foreign currency exchange rate risk arises on financial instruments that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are
measured. The Group’s foreign currency risk exposure mainly relates to bank
deposits and borrowings denominated primarily in US dollars, Euros and Hong
Kong dollars.

Management does not expect the appreciation or depreciation of the Renminbi
against foreign currencies will matenially atfect the Group’s financial position
and result of operations because 89.6% (31 December 20200 73.0%) of the
Group's cash and cash equivalents and 98 2% (31 December 2020: 99.3%) of
the Group's short-term and long-term debts as at 31 December 2021 are
denominated in Renminbi. Details of bank loans dencminated in other
currencies are set out in Note 20

1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide investment returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable
COst.

Management regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
miakes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Management monitors its capital structure on the basis of total debts to total assets ratio.
For this purpose the Group defines total debts as the sum of short-term debts and long-
term debts. Total debts do not include balance of deposits received by Finance Company
from China Telecom Group amounting to RMBIZ016 million and lease liabilities
amounting to RMB42. 402 millien as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
RMB9,826 million and RMB40,647 million), As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total
debt-to-total assets ratio was 2 2% (31 December 20200 7.5%), which is within the range
of management’s expectation,

Except Finance Company is subject to certain capital requirements imposed by China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

42, RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s habilities ansing from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Oahes
payihies
Dhefists i feproct af
with grian
Bhomderm Lofg-tetmn Lease Dnvidend Fnanee agaly
dehia dictats liailitics parablc Compurn tramadd i Tl
EAMB RMB RM[B EME H&EL RX[B RAMB
million rdhon meihon mallios mulhien metin mathaon
(P i)
Palinee aa an 1 Jaresaey 20200 42417 ] 4z 145 - 4.8 - 135 266
Finuteing cak fhows {14553} BRI (13,7383 #.51} 374 oy 1.2
Irerogn enctunge ke : {15 {163 2 2 . 20
Hew kases " 13561 ‘ 5361
Aggumation ol pon-contsnlling
nteresis . . . - . I I
Drarbution 1o son-contmiling
[ - : : a . - 42
Daviidersds Soelared E .42 : 262
{HheTs i i {23060 : H {2080}
Balince aa 81 31 Diosefniser 20010 2755 I5 B4 &0 =T - '5'.3530_ aTE 10e). 793
Fraafe ifg canlk lons {23473} {12007 (ha3sy 5550} 3,150 - (54.560F
Feerign enchinge kan E {1Ex (L] . . {26
Bew leases - L 17,0818 - . - 170
Dispoaald of subsidiaries {1, . {42y . . - .14
Aoquamicen o pon=onomilng
inorests - - - - - {U7E) [FTE)
Insirdbugion 10 mon=ponto]lng
ileTeats - - - & - - G
Fvidorads o lanod E . KAk . - #4102
hhers - &35 {1 I0% . - - [}
Iialance sa 8 31 December J1Z1 233 14678 arand 4 11,076 i1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

42, RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

Motes:

(i) Asat 31 December 2021, the balance of deposits with Finance Company amounting
to RMB13,016 million (31 December 2020 RMBS 826 million) were included in
amounts due to China Telecom Group in accrued expenses and other pavables (Note
22),

(i) For the vear ended 31 December 2021, other than the net financing cash outflows
otalling RMBS4,960 million (2020: RMB41,270 million) as presented above, other
primary financing activities imclude proceeds from A Shares Offening in 2021 (net
of issuing expenses} of RMB4T 516 million (2020: nil), and Finance Company, a
subsidiary of the Company, placed statutory deposit reserves amounting 1o RMBI77
million (2020: RMBS37 million) at the People’s Bank of China which was included
in the balance of shori-term bank deposits and restricted cash as at 31 December
2021.

10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

{a) Transactions with China Telecom Group

The Group is a part of companies under China Telecommunications Corporation, a
company owned by the PRC government, and has significant transactions and
business relationships with members of China Telecom Group.

The principal transactions with China Telecom Group are as follows. These
transactions constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules and
the Company has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Further details of these continuing connected transactions
are disclosed under the paragraph “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
“Significant Events”.

Noles 2021 2020
EMB REMB
million million
Construction engineering and design services () 15,869 15,046
Receiving ancillary services (i1} 22613 18,9203
Intereonnection revenucs (i) 52 54
Interconneetion charges (1) 131 123
Receiving commumity services {1v) 3800 3682
Met transaction amount of centralised serviees (v o652 268
Property lease income (vi) 50 45
Property lease related expenses {vit) 636 331
Addition to nght-of-=use asscts {vii) 240 335
Interest expense on lease liabilitics (vil} 17 16
Provision of IT services (viin) 1186 56
Recerving IT services (v 3548 2653
Purchases of telccommunications equipment and
miaterials {ix) 4105 3,567
Sales of telecommunications equipment and materials — (ix) 3,801 2070
Intemet applications channel services (x} B} 73
Interest expense on loans from China Telecom
Group* {xi) 336 975
Consideration recenved from disposal of subsidianies  (xii) 4072 -
Payment and digital finance related services (%) RO2 =
Others® (xiv) 218 243
Met deposit by China Telecom Group with Finance
Company® ixv) 3,190 3,728
Interest expense on the deposit by China Telecom
Grroup with Finance Company® (xv) 182 %2
Short-term loans granted by Finance Company to
China Telecom Group {xv) 2 000 -
Interest income From loans granted by Finance
Company to China Telecom Group (xv) 1 =

11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)

*  These transactions are conducted on normal commercial terms or better and
are fully exempted from compliance with the reporting, announcement,
independent shareholders” approval and/or annual review requirements under
Rules 14A.76 or 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Motes:

(i) Represent construction and engineering as well as design and supervisory
services provided by China Telecom Group,

(i)  Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group in respeet of
ancillary services such as repairs and maintenance of telecommunications
equipment and facilities and certain customer services.

(iii} Represent amounts received and receivable from/paid and payable to China
Telecom Group for interconnection of local and domestic long distance calls.

(iv) Represent amounts paid and pavable to China Telecom Group in respect of
cultural, educational, health care and other community services.

(v} Represent net amount shared between the Company and China Telecom Group
for costs associated with centralised services. The amount represents amounts
received or receivable for the net amount of centralised services.

(vi) Represent amounts of property lease fee received and receivable from China
Telecom Group for leasing of properties,

(vii) Represent amounts in respect of the leasing of properties from China Telecom
Group. Property lease related expenses include the fee for short-term leases,
leases of low-value assets, variable lease payments not depending on an index
or a rate and fee for non-lease components

(viii) Represent IT services provided to and received from China Telecom Group,

(ix) Represent the amount of telecommunications equipment and materials
purchased from/sold to China Telecom Group and commission paid and
payable for procurement services provided by China Telecom Group.

(x) Represent amounts received and receivable from China Telecom Group in
respect of Internet applications channel services, including the provision of

communications channel and applications support platform and billing and
deduction services, etc.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Transactions with China Telecom Grouwp (continued)
MNotes (continued):

ixi) Represent interest paid and payable to China Telecom Group with respect 1o
the loans from China Telecom Group (MNote 20).

ixii) Represent consideration received in respect of disposal of subsidiaries from
China Telecom Group.

(xiii) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group in respect of
payment and digital finance related services

{xiv) Represent amounts paid and pavable to China Telecom Group primarily for
usage of certain mobile communications network facilities located in Xizang
Autonomous Region, certain inter-provincial transmission optic fibres within
its service regions and certain land use nghts.

{xv) Represent amounts related to financial services provided by Finance Company

to China Telecom Group, including lending service, deposit service and other
financial services,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Grouwp (continued)

Amounts due from/to China Telecom Group are summarised as follows:

31 December
2021 2020
RMB RMB
million millicn
Accounts receivable 1,889 1,784
Contract assets 130 49
Prepayments and other current assets 2716 1,189
Total amounts due from China Telecom Group 4.744 3.022
Accounts payable 21,015 19,272
Accrued expenses and other pavables 15,249 11,279
Contract liabilities 198 217
Lease liabilities 501 480
Short-term debis - 11,164
Long-term debts - 11.000
Total amounts due to China Telecom Group 36,963 53421

Amounts due fromite China Telecom Group, other than short-term debts, long-term
debts and deposit with Finance Company included in accrued expenses and other
payables (Mote 42(i)), bear no interest, are unsecured and are repayable in
accordance with contractual terms which are similar to those terms offered by third
parties, The terms and conditions associated with short-term debts and long-term
debts due to China Telecom Group are set out in Note 20,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with China Tower

The principal transactions with China Tower are as follows. These transactions do not
constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules,

MNotes 2021 2020

RMB RMB

million million

Tower assets lease related expenses (i) 11,438 10,746
Addition to right-of-use assets (1) 2,829 3,045
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (i) 630 805
Provision of IT services (it} 3 31

Motes:

(i) Represent amounts in respect of the lease of tower assets. Tower assets lease
related expenses include the variable lease payments not depending on an index
or a rate and fee for non-lease components

(ii) Represent IT and other ancillary services provided to China Tower

Amounts due from/to China Tower are summarised as follows:

31 December

2021 2020

EME EMB

million million

Accounts receivable b 23
Prepayments and other current assets 45 138
Total amounts due from China Tower 54 161
Accounts payable 3914 4,344
Accrued expenses and other payables 1,59 1,192
Contract liabilities 3 3
Lease habhnes |3, 80 19,798
Total amounts due to China Tower 19,319 25337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with China Tower (continued)
Amounts due from/to China Tower are summarised as follows (continued ):
Amounts due from/to China Tower bear no interest, are unsecured and are repayable
in accordance with contractual terms which are similar to those terms offered by third
parties.

{c}) Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,

including directors and supervisors of the Group.

Key management personnel compensation of the Group is summarised as follows:

2021 2020

RMB EMB

thousand thousand

Short-term emplovee benefits 10,289 8,727
Post-employment benefits 1,032 628
11,321 9,355

The above remuneration is included in personnel expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
{d) Transactions with other government-related entities in the PRC

The Group is a government-related enterprise and operates in an economic regime
currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the People's
Republic of China through government authorities, agencies, affiliations and other
organisations (collectively referred 10 as “govemmeni-related entities”)

Apart from transactions with parent company and its fellow subsidiaries (Note 43{a))
and China Tower (Note 43(b)), the Group has transactions that are collectively but not
individually significant with other government-related entities, which include but not
limited to the following:

# rendering and receiving services, including but not limited to telecommunications
services

sales and purchases of goods, properties and other assets

lease of assets

depositing and borrowing

use of public utilities

These transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of the Group’s business on
terms comparable to the terms of transactions with other entities that are not
government-related. The Group prices its telecommunications services and products
based on government-regulated tanff rates, where applicable, or based on commercial
negotiations. The Group has alse established procurement policies and approval
processes for purchases of products and services, which do not depend on whether the
counterparties are government-related entities or not,

The directors of the Company believe the above information provides appropriate
disclosure of related party transactions.

16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

44. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY
31 December
Note 2021 2020
RMB EMB
million million
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 404 882 415,515
Construction in progress 44018 47,319
Right-of-use assets 60,288 58,702
Goodwall 29877 29877
Intangible assets 18,093 16,810
Investments in subsidiaries g 30,716 16,045
Interests in associates and joint ventures 40,901 39873
Equity instruments at fair value through
ather comprehensive income 921 865
Deferred 1ax assets 0,190 7,802
Other assets 0,832 4,569
Total non-current assets 642,724 637,377
Current assets
Inventories 1,391 1,431
Income tax recoverable 419 232
Accounts receivable, net 19,178 18,614
Contract assets GILH 443
Prepayments and other current assets 16,598 17,546
Short-term bank deposits and restncted
cash 14 1,617
Cash and cash equivalents 50812 12,104
Total current assets 89.012 51.987
Total assets 731,736 589 364
117
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

31 December
2021 2020
RMB RMBE
million million
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current linbilities
Short-term debts 28421 56,403
Current portion of long-term debts 6 280 1.126
Accounts payable 105,447 102,528
Accrued expenses and other payvables 41,921 36,292
Contract liabilities 63,439 57.506
Income tax payvable 196 87
Current portion of lease liabilities 13,555 12,896
Total current liabilities 239,259 266,838
Net current liabilities (170,247 (214,851)
Total assets less current
liabilities 472 477 422 5326
Non=current linbilities
Long-term debts 7.395 24,222
Lease habilities 28 168 27.010
Deferred tax liabilities 26,400 23015
Other non-current liabilities 1.382 1.561
Total non-current liabilities 63,345 76,708
Total liahilities 322 604 343 546

s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

31 December

Mote 2021 2020
RMB RME
million millicn

Equity
Share capital 01,507 80932
Reserves 26 317,625 264,886
Total equity 409.132 345818
Total liabilities and equity T31.736 689,364

45. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLANS

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement plans organised by municipal, autonomeous regional and provincial
govermnments for its emplovees, The Group is required to make contributions 1o the
retirement plans at rates ranging from 14% to 20% of the salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances of the emplovees, while the PRC government resolved to waive certain
proportion of such contributions during the specific peried affected by Covid-19 in order
to help enterprises withstand the pandemic and stabilise employment for the vear ended 31
December 2020, A member of the plan is entitled 1o a pension equal 1o a fixed proportion
of the salary prevailing at the member’s retirement date. Other than the above, the Group
also participates in supplementary defined contribution retirement plans managed by
independent external parties whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the
retirement plans at fixed rates of the emplovees’ salaries, bonuses and cenain allowances
The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits associated
with these plans beyond the annual contributions described above. During the vear ended
31 December 2021, no forfeited contributions may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions {2020: nil).

The Group's contributions for the above plans for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
EMB9 042 million (31 December 2020: RMBG, 599 million).

The amount payable for contributions to the above defined contribution retirement plans
as at 31 December 2021 was RMBT37 million (31 December 2020: RMBT46 million).

1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

46. SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS

The Company implemented a share appreciation rights plan for members of its
management to provide incentives to these employees. Under this plan, share appreciation
rights are granted in units with each unit representing one H share. No shares will be issued
under the share appreciation rights plan, Upon exercise of the share appreciation rights, a
recipient will receive, subject to any applicable withholding tax, a cash payment in RMB,
translated from the Hong Kong dollar amount equal to the product of the number of share
appreciation rights exercised and the difference between the exercise price and market
price of the Company’s H shares at the date of exercise based on the applicable exchange
rate between RMB and Hong Kong dollar at the date of the exercise. The Group recognises
compensation expense of the share appreciation rights over the applicable period.

In MNovember 2018, the Company approved the granting of 2,394 million share
appreciation right units to eligible emplovees. Under the terms of this grant, all share
appreciation rights had a contractual life of five years from date of grant and an exercise
price of HKS3.81 per unit. A recipient of share appreciation rights may exercise the rights
in stages commencing November 2020, As at each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversary
of the date of grant, the total number of share appreciation rights exercisable may not in
aggregate exceed 33.3%, 60.7% and 100.0%, respectively, of the total share appreciation
rights granted to such person.

In March 2021, the Company approved the adoption of the Phase Il Incentive Scheme for
Share Appreciation Rights and the granting of approximately 2.4 billion share appreciation
right units to eligible employees. Under the terms of this grant, all share appreciation rights
had a contractual life of five years from date of grant and an exercise price of HK32 686
per unit,

At the balance sheet date, the Company used the Binomial Model to determine the fair
value of the share appreciation rights. The model inputs to determine the fair value of share
appreciation rights granted included the closing price at the grant date, exercise price, years
to maturity, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, dividend pavout ratio, the lower
price limit on expected exercise date and expected turnover rate.

120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

46. SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

47.

Movements in the number of share appreciation rights for the vears presented are as
follows:

2021 20020
Asat | January 2317800000 2.326,135,000
Granted 2.401,745,000 :
Forfeited (2,985,000 (8.335.000)
Exercised - -
Expired - -
As at 31 December 4,716,560 000 2.317,800,000

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no share appreciation right units were
exercised. For the yvear ended 31 December 2021, compensation expense of RMBS03S
million was recognised by the Group in respect of share appreciation rights. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, compensation expense of RMB 101 million was reversed by the
Group in respect of share appreciation rights.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the liability arising from share
appreciation rights was RMBS5T71 million (31 December 2020: RMBG5 million).

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Group's financial position and results of operations are sensitive 1o accounting
methods, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Management bases the judgments and estimates on historical
experience and on other factors that the management believes 1o be reasonable and which
form the basis for making judgments about matters that are net readily apparent from other
sources, On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Actual results may
differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgments and other uncertainties
affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in
conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the consolidated
financial statements. The significamt accounting policies are set forth in Note 3.
Management believes the following significant accounting policies involve the most
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
slatements.

121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

47. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
Provision of ECL for accounts receivable

The Group uses provision matrix 1o caleulate ECL for the accounts receivable, The
provision rates are based on customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay by groupings of various debiors that have similar loss patterns, The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience taking into
consideration reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The historical loss rates are reassessed annually, and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. The Group has taken into account
various macroeconomic scenarios in consideration of forward-looking information of
enterprise customers, and applied weightings of the following three economic scenarios as
well as related forward-looking factors. For the vears presented, the weighting of “MNeutral™,
“Positive”, and “Negative” scenarios is 60%, 20% and 20%, respectively. The Group
regularly monitors and reviews the related assumptions used in calculation of ECL, which
include the risk of economic slowdown, changes of external market environment and
technological environment and customers’ conditions, Retail Price Index (“RPI™),
Producer Price Index (“PPI") and Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”), ete. In addition,
accounts receivable with significant balances or credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL
and the Group's accounts receivable are disclosed in Notes 40 and 16

122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

47. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrving amount of a long-lived asset may not be
recoverable, the asset may be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss would be
recognised in accordance with accounting policy for impairment of long-lived assets as
described in Note 3(h). The carrying amounts of the Group’s long-lived assets, including
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets with finite useful lives, construction in
progress, right-of-use assets and contract costs are reviewed periodically to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. For goodwill, the impairment testing is performed annually at the
end of each reporting period. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is the greater of its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. When an asset does
not generate cash flows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). In determining the value in use, expected future
cash flows generated by the assets are discounted to their present value, An impairment
loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount. It is difficult to precisely estimate fair value of the Group's
long-lived assets because quoted market prices for such assets may not be readily available.
In determining the value in use, expected future cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires significant judgment relating to level of
revenue, amount of operating costs and applicable discount rate. Management uses all
readily available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation
of recoverable amount,

For the year ended 31 December 2021, no significant provision for impairment loss was
made against the carrying value of long-lived assets. For the vear ended 31 December 2020,
provision for impairment loss of RMBS,042 million was made against the carrying value
of property. plant and equipment (Note 4), mainly based on the impairment test on the 3G
Assets on the basis of each individual asset,

In determining the recoverable amount of the assels within the cash-generating unt,
significant judgments were required in estimating future cash flows, level of revenue,
amount of operating costs and applicable discount rate. Changes in these estimates could
have a significant impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result in additional
impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future penods. Furthermore, the financial
budgets, growth rate and discount rate are subject 10 greater uncertainties in the current
vear due to uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and
volatility in financial markets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

47. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
Depreciation and amortisation

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after
taking into account their estimated residual value. Management reviews the estimated
usefiel lives and residual values of the assets annually in order to determing the amount of
depreciation and amortisation expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The
usefiel lives and residual values are based on the Greup’s histonical expenence with similar
assets and take into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation and
amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates,

48. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTING
PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Lp to the date of issue of the consclidated financial statements, the IASB has issued the
following new and amendmens 1o standards which are not vet effective and not early
adopied by the Group for the annual accounting period ended 31 December 2021

Effeetive for
wecounting periods
heginning on or alter
IFRS 1T “Iururmice Cofrocrs ™ | Jmmuoary 2023
Amesdnsents o LAS 16 Propern, Plon and Sgquipment ™ - Property, Plant and | Jamupary 2022
Ecpupmwent: Proceods before intended use
Amencdments o IFRS 3 Business Combinaions = Relerence 1o the Coneeplual | Jamuney 2022
Framewonrk
Amendments to IAS 37 “Peovistons, Comigent Liabiities anad Contfigent Assets ™ - | Jamupary 2022
Urmerous Contracs - Cost of Fulfillmg o Contract
Anmizal Improvements to IFRS Standards 201 8-2020 | Jamwry 2022
Amendments o LAS | “Presenration of Fineeia! Starerven - Classification of | Jenuary 2023
Lbnfitees as Cument or Non-cument
Ameiliments o LIAS | “Presentation of Finaneial Staterven”™ and IFRS Practice | Jamary 2133
Staternent 2V faking Menertenline Jindgemenes 7> Disclosure of Accounting
Palicies
Amensdmenids e IAS 8 “leoomting Policies, Choarges i deoomting Estimaies and 1 Jmmoary 2123
Frrors " Definnon |.1l'.-"L|.:|.11|.|r.|I'ir.|1.: Fstimmsites
Amsemdrments to 1AS 12 “frvome Taves s Deterred Tax related 1o Assets and | .Imlﬂ.il!:l.‘ X
Liabilitees arsing from a Siegle Transaction
Amedments o IFRS 10 “Consolidated Finmciel Siefements” and 1AS 28 To be delemined

“lrvestments in assoctafes ad joimd venirees - Sale or contnbation of pssels
Bt an mvestor and s pssociite oF Jomd venturne
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the vear ended 31 December 2021

48. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTING
PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact that will result from
adopting the new and amendments to standards issued by the IASB which are not vet
effective for the accounting period ended on 31 December 202 1. So far the Group believes
that the adoption of these new and amendments to standards is unlikely to have a
significant impact on its financial position and the results of operations.

49, EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 May 2021, The New York Stock Exchange LLC (the “NYSE") filed the Form 23
with the US Secunties and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™) and the delisting of the
Company’s American Depositary Shares (the “ ADSs") became effective on 18 May 2021
On @ September 2021, the board of directors of the Company resolved to terminate the
ADS Program which became effective on 8 December 2021 (U_S. Eastern time). In light
of the delisting of the ADSs and the termination of the ADS Program, the Company has
filed a Form 15F with the SEC on 25 February 2022 to deregister the ADSs and terminate
its reponting obligations under the U8, Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“UL.5. Exchange Act™). The Company’s reporting obligation under the U5, Exchange Act
has been suspended immediately upon such filing. The deregistration and termination of
reporting obligation is expected to become effective 90 days after the filing, unless
withdrawn by the Company or objected to by the SEC.

50. PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company as at 31 December 2021 is
China Telecommunications Corporation, a state-owned enterprise established in the PRC.

125
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2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
17.32 17.48 16.75 16.06 18.06
15.75 16.01 14.86 14.79 15.78
16.61 16.71 15.80 15.48 17.04
17.28 16.16 15.60 15.81 18.05

State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100

2021 11 2021 12 2022 1 2022 2 2022 3 2022 4

18.05 18.06 18.22 18.29 19.44 20.22
17.66 17.72 17.93 18.04 18.10 19.19
17.85 17.88 18.06 18.17 18.68 19.68

State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100

19.56 2022 28
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
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Independent Auditor®s Report

To the Shareholders of China Telecom Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the People™s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Telecom Corporation Limited (the “ Company” ) and its subsidiaries
(the “ Group” ), which are set out on pages 186 to 286, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (* IFRSs” ) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ ISAs” ). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (* 1ESBA Code” ), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Revenue recognition
Impairment assessment of goodwill

Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 3 - Significant accounting
policies (m) and Note 27 — Operating revenues
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group®s operating revenues are mainly
generated from the provision of mobile
communications, wireline and Smart Family,
Industrial Digitalisation services and from
sales of goods.

We focused on this area as significant efforts
were spent on auditing revenue recognition due
to the significant volume of the transactions,
the complexity of the related information
technology systems, the variety of tariff and
package structures relating to the services and
the complexity of multiple-element
arrangements. This also involved a number of
judgements and estimates on the identification
of distinct performance obligations and the
determination of the stand-alone selling price
for each single performance obligation in the
allocation of transaction prices among various
performance obligations.

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

In response to this key audit matter, we
performed the following procedures:

Obtained an understanding of, evaluated and
tested the design and operating
effectiveness of internal controls over the
capture and measurement of revenue
transactions, including the key internal
controls over in-scope IT systems such as
billing system;

Evaluated the appropriateness of
management®s identification and evaluation
of the terms and conditions by examining
contracts with customers and evaluating
management®s determination of the impact of
those terms and conditions on revenue
recognition;

Evaluated the appropriateness of
management®s identification of distinct
performance obligations and the
determination of the stand-alone selling
price for each performance obligation; and

Performed substantive testing on revenue by
examining supporting documents such as end-
user contracts, customer bills and billing
reports using sampling techniques and by
examining the reconciliation between the
billing system and financial records by
using computer assisted audit techniques.

Based on our work, we found that the revenue

recognized was supported by the evidence we
obtained.
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Key Audit Matter
Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to Note 3 - Significant accounting
policies (h), Note 7 — Goodwill and Note 47 -
Accounting estimates and judgments to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had recorded goodwill arising from
acquisition of its mobile communications
business. In accordance with International
Accounting Standards (“ 1AS” ) 36 “ Impairment
of Assets” , the Group is required to perform
goodwi Il impairment assessment both annually
and whenever there is an indication that a
cash-generating unit (* CGU” ) to which
goodwill has been allocated may be impaired.
When performing the impairment assessment,
management has determined the recoverable
amounts of the CGU based on value in use
calculations using discounted cash flow model.

We focused on auditing the impairment
assessment of goodwill due to the magnitude of
the carrying amount of goodwill and the
estimation of recoverable amount was subject to
a high degree of estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill is considered
significant due to the complexity of the
impairment model deployed, subjectivity of
significant assumptions used, and significant
judgements involved in selecting the underlying
data, such as revenue growth rate, terminal
growth rate and pre-tax discount rate.
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How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

In response to this key audit matter, we
performed the following procedures:

Obtained an understanding of the
management®s internal controls and
assessment process of the recoverable
amounts of goodwill; and assessed the
inherent risks of material misstatements by
considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

Evaluated and tested the key internal
controls over the impairment assessment of
goodwill including controls over the
development of the model and significant
assumptions used in the impairment test;

Assessed the reasonableness of management®"s
allocation of goodwill to CGUs or groups of
CGUs based on our understanding of the
Group®s business;

Involved our valuation specialists to
evaluate the appropriateness of the model
and certain significant assumptions such as
the pre-tax discount rate and terminal
growth rate;

Evaluated the reasonableness of other key
assumptions adopted in the model such as
revenue growth rate with consideration paid
to external evidence and the degree of
historical accuracy of the management®s
assumptions and projections in achieving the
forecasts; and

Tested the completeness, accuracy and
relevancy of the underlying data used and
the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations in the models.

Based on our work, we found that the result of

management®s impairment assessment of goodwill
was supported by the evidence we obtained.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor”s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, indoing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group®s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group®s financial reporting process.
Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as awhole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor"s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting fromerror, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group®s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group®s ability to continue as a going concern. Ifwe conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor”"s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor”s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with themall relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor®s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor®s report is Wilson W.Y. Chow.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 17 March 2022
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Wilson W.Y. Chow.

2022 3 17
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